ADDRESSING GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE IN WARD 83 UMLAZI.

ZANELE MAUREEN KHUZWAYO

APRIL 2023



ADDRESSING GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE IN UMLAZI, WARD 83 DURBAN

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the

Degree of Master of Management Science

Specialising in

Public Administration (Peace building)

In the

Faculty of Management Sciences

At the Durban University of Technology

ZANELE MAUREEN KHUZWAYO

APRIL 2023

FINAL SUBMISSION

Supervisor: (ICON) Vijay Hamlall Date: 12 April 2023

(PhD)

DECLARATION

Student Number: 21959527

I, Zanele Maureen Khuzwayo, hereby declare that the thesis herewith submitted for the

Masters in Public Administration - Peace Building Studies at the Durban University of

Technology (DUT) is my original work and has not been previously submitted for a degree at

any other university. All work from other sources is cited as such.

Zanele Maureen Khuzwayo

I agree to the submission of this thesis for examination

Vijay Hamlall (PhD)

i

ABSTRACT

Extensive research has pointed to ongoing and increasing gender-based violence internationally and in South Africa. The rampant escalation of gender-based violence in many South African townships is of particular concern. The main focus of this study was to investigate the experiences, perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs regarding gender-based violence of a sample of men and women living in Ward 83 in the township of Umlazi, in KwaZulu-Natal. This study looked beyond the dichotomy of women as victims and men as perpetrators, with a focus on understanding how society constrains and enables individual agency around gender-based violence and decision-making and how behaviour is affected by social norms and expectations.

This study identified the sources of the attitudes and beliefs expressed by the chosen sample of community members in Umlazi using a participatory action research approach and implemented a programme of action aimed at preventing and reducing the prevalence of gender-based violence in the township through behaviour and attitudinal change. Men play an active role in shaping women's identities and controlling their behaviour. For this reason, the study included men living in the area.

This study is situated in the social constructionist framework since the researcher was interested in understanding the experiences, perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs of a sample of men and women as described by them. This framework allows for the interpretation of gender, culture and social factors that shape identities and actions.

The choice of a small sample is based on the intention to produce rich, in-depth qualitative data. The participants consisted of seven females and five males ranging in age from twenty-one to fifty years old, since this study focused on the experiences of the adult community of Umlazi. The two main research methods employed were individual semi-structured interviews and focus group discussions. The results were interpreted and analysed using thematic analysis.

The findings of this study revealed that gender-based violence in this community manifested itself in various forms. However, I classified the consequences of gender based violence into two broad categories: physical and psychological. Scholars of gender and violence argue that

there is no single factor that causes gender-based violence but rather an array of factors that raises the likelihood that a man in a particular setting may act violently towards a woman. Significantly, it emerged in this study that the main causes of gendered violent behaviour were associated with social norms, substance abuse and constructions of masculinity. The effects of gender-based violence were acute and immediate physical injuries and psychological trauma. The women mentioned feelings of depression and anxiety and suicidal thoughts. The abuse also impacted their self-worth and self-esteem. This study recommends an integrated comprehensive approach of all stakeholders in the form of community based intervention programmes towards the eradication gender-based violence.

DEDICATION

This piece of work is dedicated to my husband, Mr Ziphozonke Khuzwayo and my mom the late Mrs Florence Dube, who always encouraged me. To all my children, especially my eldest daughter, Sthokozile Nokulunga Khuzwayo, who assisted me and also ensured that I get proper information.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to convey my wholehearted gratitude to Dr Hamlall; without his support, patience and magnificent supervision, this thesis would not have been produced.

I extend my sincere appreciation to my family, particularly my husband who always encouraged me to complete my studies.

I'm very grateful to my children, who assisted me with the language.

To my mentor, Sinikiwe Zuma, thank you for the great support you gave me during my studies.

To my creator, Lord Jesus, for granting me this opportunity to study, thanks.

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AIDS Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome

CEDAW Committee on the Eliminating of all Discrimination against Women

COVID-19 Corona virus Disease

GBV gender-based violence

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus

NGO Non-Governmental Organisation

PAR Participatory Action Research

SAAPA Southern African Alcohol Policy Alliance

SAAPA South African Alcohol Policy Alliance

SAMRC South African Medical Research Council

SAMRC South African Medical Research Council

UN United Nations

WHO World Health Organisation

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4. 1 Profile of Participants Interviewed	55
•	
Table 6. 1 Campaign Programme	82

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	i
ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF ACRONYMS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
CHAPTER 1	1
1.1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.2 BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY	1
1.3 PROBLEM STATEMENT	3
1.4 RATIONALE	4
1.5 RESEARCH AIMS AND QUESTIONS	5
1.6 DEFINITIONS OF TERMS	6
1.6.1 GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	6
1.6.2 CULTURAL DYNAMICS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	
1.6.3 CONSTRUCTION OF MASCULINITY	7
1.6.4 THE EXTENT OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	7
1.6.5 CAUSES OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	8
1.6.6 NATURE OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	8
1.6.7 EFFECTS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE (GBV)	9
1.6.8 INTERVENTION PROGRAMMES TO COMBAT GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	9
1.7 THE SOCIAL CONSTRUCTION OF GENDER	10
1.8 RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	11
1.8.1RESEARCH DESIGN	11
1.8.2 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	11
1.8.3 POPULATION/TARGET POPULATION	12
1.8.4 SAMPLING	13
1.8.5 RECRUITING PROCESS	13
1.8.6 DATA COLLECTION METHOD	13
1 8 7 ΠΔΤΔ ΔΝΔΙΥΚΙΚ	14

1.8.8 DELIMITATIONS/SCOPE	15
1.8.9 LIMITATIONS	15
1.8.10 VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY	15
1.8.11 ETHICAL ISSUES	15
1.9 OUTLINE OF CHAPTERS	16
1.10 CONCLUSION	17
CHAPTER 2	18
2.1 INTRODUCTION	18
2.2 SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONIST THEORY	18
2.3 GENDER AND SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONISM	20
2.4 SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONISM IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN CONTEXT	21
2.5 SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONISM AND GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	22
2.6 CONCLUSION	23
CHAPTER 3	24
LITERATURE REVIEW	24
3.1 INTRODUCTION	24
3.2 DEFINITIONS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	24
3.3 CULTURAL DYNAMICS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	29
3.3.1 CULTURAL PATRIARCHY	30
3.3.2 MARRIAGE –LOBOLA	32
3.3.3 GENDER ROLES	32
3.4 CONSTRUCTIONS OF MASCULINITY AND GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	33
3.5 CAUSES OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	34
3.5.1 IMBALANCES OF POWER	34
3.5.2 SOCIETAL INFLUENCES	35
3.5.3 ECONOMIC FACTORS	37
3.5.4 TOXIC MASCULINITY	38
3.6 NATURE OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	39
3.7 IMPACT OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	41
3.7.1 IMPACT ON WOMEN'S HEALTH	42
3.7.2 PHYSICAL	42
3.7.3 PSYCHOLOGICAL	42
3.7.4 ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL IMPACT ON WOMEN	43
3.7.5 IMPACT ON WOMEN'S FAMILIES AND DEPENDANTS	43

	3.7.6 IMPACT ON SOCIETY	44
	3.7.7 IMPACT ON THE PERPETRATORS OF VIOLENCE	44
	3.7.8 INTERVENTION PROGRAMMES TO COMBAT GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	45
	3.8 CONCLUSION	46
CH	IAPTER 4	48
M	ETHODOLOGY	48
	4.1 INTRODUCTION	48
	4.2 RESEARCH DESIGN	48
	4.3 RESEARCH APPROACH	49
	4.4. POPULATION/TARGET POPULATION	51
	4.5 SAMPLING METHOD	52
	4.6. MEASURING INSTRUMENTS	53
	4.7. RECRUITING PROCESS	53
	4.8 DATA COLLECTION METHOD	57
	4.9 DATA ANALYSIS	58
	4.10 ETHICAL ISSUES	59
	4.11 VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY	59
	4.12 LIMITATIONS AND DIFFICULTIES	60
	4.13 CONCLUSION	61
CH	IAPTER 5	62
	5.1 INTRODUCTION	62
	5. 1 THE NATURE OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	62
	5.1.1 INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE	62
	5.1.2 SEXUAL VIOLENCE	64
	5.1.3 PHYSICAL ABUSE	66
	5.2 CAUSES OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	67
	5.2.1 SOCIAL NORMS	67
	5.3 SUBSTANCE ABUSE	72
	5.4 CONSTRUCTIONS OF MASCULINITY	74
	5.5 EFFECTS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	75
	5.5.1 PHYSICAL	75
	5.5.2 PSYCHOLOGICAL	76
	5.6 COMMUNITIES DEALING WITH GBV	77
	5.7 CONCLUSION	70

CHAPTER 6	80
PLANNING AND IMPLEMENTING THE ACTION	80
6.1INTRODUCTION	80
6.2.1 THE INTERVENTION CAMPAIGN PARTICIPANTS	80
6.2.2 THE INTERVENTION CAMPAIGN	81
6.2.3THE ACTION PLAN	81
6.3 FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION	83
6.4 PLANNING THE ACTION	85
6.4.1COMMUNITY PLAY	86
6.4.2TAXI CAVALCADE	86
6.4.3 SOCCER FOR PEACE	87
6.5 IMPLEMENTING THE ACTION	87
6.5.1 AWARENESS CAMPAIGN	87
6.5.2 COMMUNITY PLAY	88
6.5.3TAXIS CAVALCADE	88
6.5.4SOCCER FOR PEACE	89
6.6 EVALUATION OF THE OUTCOMES	89
6.7 REFLECTION	92
6.8 CONCLUSION	94
CHAPTER 7	95
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	95
7.1 INTRODUCTION	95
7. 2 SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH PROCESS	95
7.2 MAIN CONCLUSIONS OF THE STUDY	97
7.2.1 FINDINGS	97
7.3 RECOMMENDATION	101
7.4 LIMITATIONS	102
7.5 CONCLUSION	102
REFERENCES	102
APPENDICES	114
APPENDIX A: LETTER TO THE PARTICIPANT	114
APPENDIX B: PARTICIPANT CONSENT	116
APPENDIX C: ISHEDULIYEZINGXOXOZALOOYINGXENYEYESITADI	118
APPENDIX D: FOCUS GROUP INTERVIEW SCHEDULE FOR PARTICIPANTS	122

APPENDIX E	124
APPENDIX F	125
	_
APPENDIX G	126
-	
APPENDIX H	127

CHAPTER 1

1.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter presents the research study. It outlines the context and background of the study in which the research was conducted. The aim and purpose of the research, the problem statement and the rationale for this study are provided. The definition of key concepts, the literature review, research design and methodology, and the outline of chapters are also presented.

1.2 BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY

The main focus of this study was to investigate the experiences, perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs regarding gender-based violence of a sample of men and women residing in the South African township of Umlazi. This study identified the sources of the attitudes and beliefs expressed by the chosen sample of community members of Ward 83 in Umlazi and investigated the nature and causes of violence within the community. Using participatory action research, the researcher planned and implemented a programme of action aimed at preventing and reducing the pervasiveness of gender-based violence in the township through behavioural and attitudinal change.

The study selected a qualitative approach. A purposive sample of twelve participants was used: seven females and five males between the ages of twenty-one and fifty. This allowed the researcher to gain both masculine and feminine perspectives on gender-based violence.

This study looks beyond the differences between women as victims and men as abusers. The focus is on understanding how society limits or enables individual autonomy around gender-based violence and decision-making and how behaviour is affected by social norms and expectations.

Gender-based violence is a violation of human rights and discrimination against women. It can be physical, sexual, or verbal abuse (Naidoo, 2017). The World Health Organisation (WHO 2008) defines violence against women as acts of sexual and mental harm, including threats.

Gender-based violence is about control, where one party enforces their will upon the other. A number of policies address GBV locally and internationally which include The Promotion of Equality and Prevention of Unfair Discrimination Act (Act No 4 of 2000), (PEPUDA), The Sexual Offences and Related Matters Amendment Act (SORMAA) (Act No 32 of 2007), The Protection from Harassment Act (Act No 17 of 2011), South Africa's Domestic Violence Act (DVA), (Act No 116 of 1998). The World Health Organisation (2008) has acknowledged that if we are unsuccessful in addressing violence against women, many of the fixed global poverty eradication goals will be compromised.

When the apartheid policy came into existence in the 1940s, black South Africans and the Zulu communities living in Durban reached a period of transition (Raper 2013). These changes enforced segregation of citizens into so-called 'White', 'Bantu/African', 'Coloured' and 'Asian' suburbs in terms of the Group Areas Act (1950). African Durban residents were moved and relocated to townships, particularly KwaMashu and, later, Umlazi on the outskirts of Durban. In 1967, Umlazi was established as a Black township and was one of the places where many who were displaced from Cato Manor ended up. It housed African labourers, many of whom were needed to work in White-owned industries in the South Durban industrial area. The township later became the largest in Durban.

The Umlazi area spans over 47 460 km² with a population of 404811 (8529.91 perkm²) and 104914 households (KwaZulu-Natal Gambling Board 2019). The population of Umlazi consists mainly of IsiZulu-speaking people (Nombuso, 2015). All the participants in this study are IsiZulu-speaking. This study investigates the motivations, root causes and key drivers of toxic behaviour and abusive belief systems in order to challenge them by offering a counternarrative. My analysis sifts through cultural beliefs to separate fact from myth and ushers this community and individuals, especially men, on a journey of unlearning those deep-rooted faulty belief systems and learning new positive ones that will make a safer community for all women. It is hoped that the findings and interventions of this study will contribute to creating a safer and more peaceful environment.

1.3 PROBLEM STATEMENT

Extensive research has pointed to ongoing and increasing gender-based violence internationally and in South Africa (Decker, et al., 2015; Katembo, 2015; Naidoo, 2016).

In June 2018, statistics revealed that the murder rate for women increased by 117 per cent in South Africa (UNWOMEN, 2018). Sexual offences relating to women also jumped from 31665 to 70813 (Meyiwa, 2017: 2). This led thousands of women to embark on protest action on 1 August 2018 across South Africa to protest against gender-based violence (Whitehead, 2018). In his opening speech in parliament, the President of South Africa (Cyril Ramaphosa) highlighted that gender-based violence is a national crisis and that the government is determined to end this scourge (Maphanga, 2018:2).

According to Dzinavane (2016:20):

Gender-based violence is persistent and affects women of all societies, races, cultures, religions, socio-political and economic backgrounds. It is deeply rooted in patriarchy and culture, where women are subjected to many forms of physical, sexual and/or psychological harm, rape, marital rape, forced marriage and 'honour' killings'

Furthermore, Nkomo (2014) argues that the women's rights and fundamental freedoms that are enshrined in the South African Constitution are being corrupted by traditional cultural practices that lead to gender-based violence. In particular, every woman has the right to mental and physical integrity, dignity, liberty and security of the person. They have the right to be liberated from any inhuman or degrading treatment.

This research study will focus on Umlazi, Ward 83, which consists of four sections. The high unemployment rate, violence and crime have spiralled to alarming proportions. Gender-based violence is a serious concern as there has been a spike in incidents where women are beaten or even killed by their partners in the community of Umlazi (Tembe, 2017). According to Crime Stats SA, Umlazi is ranked second amongst the worst 10 precincts in terms of reported crimes in KwaZulu-Natal and first in terms of sexual offences for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 (Dawood, 2019).

This study aims to address gender-based violence in this community and contribute to the eradication of violence in this area.

1.4 RATIONALE

According to Hadebe (2010:57):

Some women uphold the notion that authoritative male power ought to rest in the household. In contradiction to the constitutional values which emphasise respect, and dignity of human persons irrespective of gender or sex; "in the Zulu traditional society, a woman is not allowed to disagree or argue with a man because he is placed by 'culture' or 'ancestors' as the head of the household". Patriarchy is mostly promoted by African culture, Zulu culture inclusive, this in turn, perpetuates the subordination of women.

The exploitation of women is exceptionally widespread and emanates from a culture and tradition of male dominance (Ngubane, 2010). Women are viewed as the property of men, first of their fathers, and then, when they get married, of their husbands. This view encourages male dominance and also increases and encourages violence against women (Ngubane, 2010:1-2).

In investigating the nature and causes of violence within the community of Umlazi, Ward 83, this study also investigated the extent to which this community subscribed to the culture and tradition of male dominance and how this impacted the violence against women. As a woman residing in Umlazi but not in the same ward, I am aware of societal norms that justify and preserve acceptance of GBV. Families and members of this community have shared their beliefs and an unspoken rule that forbids and supports behaviours that implicitly portray violence against women as acceptable, even perhaps normal. The intervention component of this participatory action research study will target the transformation of these social norms that justify and preserve the acceptance of GBV.

According to Alemu (2015:234):

Practitioners stress just how crucial it is that programmes designed to engage men and boys to address GBV never lose sight of global women's inequality. Programmes that communities choose to initiate should still place the focus on women and girls' experiences of GBV while engaging men and boys within those experiences.

The intervention programmes in my study are aimed at preventing the continued cycle of gender-based violence in this community by actively engaging with men and women when designing and implementing a programme to avoid negative reactions and increased levels of violence at the household level.

Since the COVID-19 outbreak, reports have shown an increase in several types of violence against women and children in the home.

According to Mittal and Singh (2020:34):

Although the COVID-19 pandemic is claiming the lives of many, the pandemic's unbalanced impact on women and girls' socio-economic welfare is threatening to overturn the hard-won gains in advancing gender equality and women's empowerment. Without comprehensive action to reduce the pandemic's gendered impacts, COVID-19 could catalyse an important reversal in hard-won progress on women's rights.

This study looks to rebuild from the pandemic in ways that empower and protect women. My literature search has revealed that no study has been conducted in Umlazi that addresses gender-based violence, which includes an intervention campaign that aims to combat the scourge of violence against women. Furthermore, this study is novel in that it includes men and women in the investigation of the nature and causes of GBV, as well as the planning and implementation of the intervention campaign.

1.5 RESEARCH AIMS AND QUESTIONS

The most important aim of the study is to promote peace in the Umlazi district by reducing levels of gender-based violence in the community.

Research Objectives:

- To investigate the extent of cultural influence on gender-based Violence (GBV).
- To investigate the social construct of masculinity and GBV.
- To examine the nature, causes and effects of gender-based violence in the Umlazi district in the township.
- To use participatory action research to plan and implement a programme of action aimed at preventing and reducing the pervasiveness of GBV.
- To analyse the effectiveness of intervention programmes that aim to combat GBV.

The following critical questions were asked based on the objectives above:

- To what extent do cultural dynamics have an impact on gender-based violence?
- What is the relationship between the construction of masculinity and gender-based violence?
- What are the causes, effects and nature of gender-based violence in the Umlazi Township?
- How will planning and implementing a programme of action that is aimed at reducing gender-based violence be done?
- How do the analyses show the effectiveness of intervention programmes to combat gender-based violence?

1.6 DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

1.6.1 GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

Gender-based violence is harmful to women in ways such as coercion or deprivation of liberty occurring in public or private life. Perpetrators or abusers might include family members, community members, or those acting on behalf of the cultural and religious state. Victims of GBV are usually women and girls (Naidoo, 2017).

1.6.2 CULTURAL DYNAMICS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

According to Katembo (2015:59):

Some African cultures accept gender-based violence against women as a correctional measure that men can do without hesitation. Gender-based violence is culturally acceptable as it is viewed within the bounds of what is expected of men in their interaction with women.

A study of GBV among the Zulu culture by Langa (2011) found that Zulu wives are exploited by the Zulu culture and that they silently suffer being dominated and is not even aware of it because they respect culture to the point of fearing the misfortunes that could happento them if they defy their culture. According to Ndlovu (2008), GBV has strong links to the traditional practice of female subordination in general.

1.6.3 CONSTRUCTION OF MASCULINITY

According to Connell (1987:18):

Masculinity is a product of social construction in every context. To most people, being a man or woman is above all a matter of experience. It is something that involves the way we grow up, the way we conduct family life and sexual relationships, and the way we represent ourselves in everyday situations. There is a need to learn the behaviour of each gender to be able to understand it.

However, Hadebe (2010) states that when the child is born, it has biological sex but no socialisation, and as it grows older, society has great influence over the prescriptions, patterns, or types of behaviour of one sex or the other. These social prescriptions determine what acceptable behaviour for each gender is. This then implies masculinity is a social construct with an identity that influences and shapes attitudes and behaviours.

1.6.4 THE EXTENT OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

South African research results have shown that the pervasiveness of gender-based violence, including abuse, rape, or murder of women and children, is disturbingly high (Abraham, Mathews, Martin, Lombard and Jewkes, 2013).Indeed, interpersonal violence, and

particularly intimate partner violence, is second only to HIV/AIDS in South Africa's burden of diseases (Joyner and Mash, 2012). The brutal killing of Uyinene Booysen in South Africa attracted local and international media attention, which impelled public discussion about the extent and ruthlessness of violence that many women and children face (Shai, 2013). Gender-based violence undermines not only the safety, dignity, overall health status, and human rights of individuals who experience it, but also the public health, economy, stability and security of nations. One out of three women is estimated to have been beaten or physically abused worldwide (Shai, 2013).

1.6.5 CAUSES OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

Mpani (2015) asserts that stereotypical roles in which women are seen as subordinate to men constrain a woman's ability to exercise choices that would enable her to end the abuse. Many studies found that imbalances of power in gender inequality and discriminatory patriarchal practices against women to be the original causes of gender-based violence. These practices often favour men over women. Gender-based violence is caused by the interplay of individuals, community, economic, cultural and religious factors interacting at different levels, including growing up in a home characterised by violence. At the community level, factors include neighbourhoods where violence against women is seen as the norm.

Moreover, Nkomo (2015) states that culturally, the abuse of alcohol consumption and ownership of guns are common indicators of hegemonic masculinity that contribute to the increase in the number of GBV cases.

According to Naidoo (2017:58), at an economic level, factors include poverty, unemployment and changing economic statuses among women and men. Culturally, males are often placed in powerful positions in relation to women due to practices such as lobola, ukuthwala, and Sharia law, where women inherently hold lower positions than men. These practices clearly condone and tolerate gender-based violence.

1.6.6 NATURE OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

According to Heise at *al.* (2002:41), GBV is deeply rooted in gender inequality and is one of the most notable human rights violations within all societies. The authors further state that

gender-based violence is a combination of harmful behaviours including wife abuse, sexual assault, murder and marital rape directed at women and girls.

However, Mpani (2015) states that gender-based violence includes domestic violence, intimate partner violence, sexual harassment and violence in the workplace. It cuts across races, mostly linked to the discourses of gender inequalities.

1.6.7 EFFECTS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE (GBV)

Dzinavane (2016) argument is that gender-based violence inflicted on women and girls results in physical, sexual and psychological damage. There is evidence of economic harm and suffering, which includes threats, coercion, or deprivation of liberties, whether happening in public or private. GBV has an impact on families and communities both in the short-term and long-term (Nkomo, 2014). Evidence from outbreaks similar to COVID-19 indicates that women and girls can be affected in negative ways. In fact, there is a risk that gender pay gaps could widen during and after the COVID-19 pandemic. This challenges women and girls' ability to accumulate human capital, economic empowerment, and voice and agency. These challenges over the past decades could be reversed, and this study will also be on the lookout for the different ways that COVID-19 and the accompanying economic crisis may affect gender equality outcomes and GBV.

1.6.8 INTERVENTION PROGRAMMES TO COMBAT GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

The most common approach taken in connection with the prevention of gender-based violence is awareness campaigns. Ndlovu (2015) states that many intervention programmes focus on women and ignore the agency of men in reducing gender-based violence. It is important to seek to work together as a team. Men may continue to act violently because of the lack of practical involvement in issues. For example, the Future without Violence Programme has been asking the question: What assistance can men render to end violence against women and girls? They state the importance of men being included in these initiatives to end violence against women by using positive influences such as fathers, educators, coaches, and policymakers to challenge the attitudes and beliefs that support GBV. Through programmes such as Futures Without Violence, the aim is to develop new male role models and leaders in the field who are willing to publicly speak and act against violence toward

women and girls (Futures without Violence, 2019). There are many other intervention programmes aimed to address gender-based violence that support the need to include men in these programmes.

1.7 THE SOCIAL CONSTRUCTION OF GENDER

This study will be informed by the social constructionist theory (Gergen, 1999; Katembo, 2015).

According to Katembo (2015:10):

Gender is a constructive element of social relationships based on perceived differences between sexes and gender is a primary way of signifying relationships of power Social constructionism focuses mainly on explaining and clarifying the ways in which people come to describe, explain and make sense of the world in which they live.

Moreover, Gergen and Davis (2012) also try to make common forms of understanding relevant to the existing ones in the present as well as the ways they have existed in past historical eras and might still exist in the future. This study fits the social constructionist approach in it attempts to understand specific experiences of gender violence in the district of Umlazi and how they make sense of these experiences in the context in which they find themselves.

Gender is constructed socially and its consequences result in socio-cultural influences throughout an individual's development (Schroeder, Grumman, and Couts, 2005). Our gender identity can be influenced by social groups, their historical and cultural background, family values and religion. We learn our gender (Huslin, 2006). People are likely to conform to their groups and continue with the same discriminatory behaviour to fit in and be accepted. This study explores experiences, attitudes and actions leading to gender-based violence in the community of Umlazi. Cultural and religious beliefs have consequential impacts on gender identity and, in many cases, advocate stereotypes against women, like that of women doing all household chores, while men converse with their friends and do not support domestic chores. What counts as violence is socially constructed and reflects power relationships.

1.8 RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

1.8.1RESEARCH DESIGN

Research design guides a researcher throughout the collection of data until the researcher reaches the ultimate objective (Makongoza, 2016). Qualitative research will be used in this study.

According to Leedy and Ormrod (2018:150):

Qualitative research has a number of methodologies that are different from one another. They all have two things in common. First, they focus on phenomena that are occurring or have previously occurred in the real world. Second, they involve capturing and studying the complexity of those phenomena. The purposes of qualitative research are description, explanation, reporting, and the creation of key concepts, theory generation and testing.

Moreover, Cohen, Manion and Morrison(2018) state that qualitative research provides an indepth, complex and complete understanding of the meanings of actions, observable phenomena, attitudes, intentions and behaviours. It gives voices to participants and explores issues that lie beneath the surface of presenting behaviours and actions. Hammersly (2013) notes the important tradition in qualitative research in which situations are observed and interpreted.

1.8.2 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

A participatory action research approach will be used in this study. Giddings (2012) defines action research as an approach directed toward solving a problem. Many researchers have tried to find solutions to eradicate the scourge of gender based violence. Participatory action research seeks to transform practitioners and their understanding of their practices and the conditions in which they practice. A problem involving people, tasks, and procedures used in any setting needs action research to improve the social condition (Jefferson, 2014).

According to Creswell (2012):

The action research approach is typically a small-scale intervention in the functioning of the real world and a systematic, close examination, monitoring and review of the effects of the intervention.

Participatory action research differs from most approaches because it is based on data collection, reflections and actions that aim to reduce a problem by involving the people who, in turn, take action to improve the state of their own lives (Cohen, Manion and Morrison, 2018). Participants chosen will play an important role in addressing the scourge of gender-based violence in the community of Umlazi.

Cohen, Manion and Morrison (2018:126) explain the exploratory aspect of the participatory action research project as follows:

- (1)Collecting all the details about people and their surroundings (home and community);
- (2) Engaging participants in creative and interactive activities that foster a greater understanding of how they conceptualise GBV issues;
- (3) Collaborating with people to develop strategies to express their perceptions of GBV, and
- (4) Engaging with community members to develop interventions that promote an environment free-from-violence and promote relationships based on tolerance, respect and equality.

1.8.3 POPULATION/TARGET POPULATION

According to Langa (2012:45), a population is generally a large collection of individuals or objects, which is the main focus of research. The population gives samples and then makes conclusions from the results obtained from the samples. The target population is a member of a group that is part of the population a researcher is interested in studying. The results of the study are generalised to the population because they have significant characteristics in common.

The targeted population will be members of the Umlazi community. They will respond to the interviews in order to provide the study with clear and insightful information with regard to

the nature and levels of GBV within the community, as well as the effects it has on women and men. The population of Umlazi is 404811 people with Ward 83, having 36 253 people.

The research study will involve twelve participants. Female and male community members of all social levels will be the key participants in this study because they witness gender-based violence in their everyday lives. The participants will consist of seven females and five males from twenty-one up to fifty years old since this study focuses on the experiences of the adult community of Umlazi.

1.8.4 SAMPLING

Purposive sampling has been chosen for this study because it will give access to knowledgeable people about gender-based violence. A group of seven women and five men living in Umlazi will be selected. This qualitative research will emphasise the uniqueness, idiographic and exclusive distinctiveness of this phenomenon, group or individuals in question that only represent them (Cohen, Manion and Morrison, 2018).

1.8.5 RECRUITING PROCESS

The recruitment process will initially involve referrals from the local councillor of people who are willing to share personal insight and provide an understanding of gender-based violence in the community. Snowballing will then be used where the initial participants name other participants from the same population who are willing to participate and support my gaining access. They further identify participants and so the sample snowballs (Lee, 2003).

1.8.6 DATA COLLECTION METHOD

Semi-structured interviews will be conducted face-to-face with the chosen participants. This will take place in different settings arranged prior to the meetings. Semi-structured interviews are meetings where the interviewer does not follow a formalised list of questions. Two face-to-face interviews of 50-minute duration will be conducted with each of the participants. The first interview will focus on biographical data to obtain an overall impression of the participant and to understand each person's story of (his or her) own life. The second interview will be designed to obtain the experiences, perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs of the participants.

Three focus group interviews will be conducted. The focus group interviews will be gender sensitive. One focus group will be conducted with the seven females only, the second with the five males only, and the third will be a mixed group of males and females. The same interview schedule will be used for all three focus groups. Harris and Kaye (2017) outline the process of action research as having three phases, which are: exploring the problem by collecting and analysing the relevant data, planning and implementing the intervention and evaluating the outcomes.

The exploration phase of the research will include face-to-face and focus group discussions. This will enable the researcher to explore and collect data on the nature, causes and consequences of GBV, as well as the effectiveness of current ways of reducing GBV. The planning and implementation of an intervention stage will use a combination of interviews and focus group discussions to gain an in-depth understanding of the challenges and opportunities for the effective reduction of violence. Participatory action research requires collective action on the intervention. This will address objective four of the study.

The third stage of evaluation of short-term outcomes will be held after participants report on the intervention of the peace-building work. The evaluation of the outcome of the intervention is important to achieve the objective of the study.

1.8.7 DATA ANALYSIS

Data analysis involves how we intend to understand, explain and interpret the phenomenon in question (Taylor and Gibbs 2010). It includes organising, describing, understanding, accounting for, and explaining data. In my study, I will use a thematic analysis. While thematic is highly inductive, it is not mandatory for a researcher to consider all themes emerging during data analysis but can be very helpful. The theme of the work is the main message, insight or observation the writer offers. The thematic analysis presents data in such a way that it can be understood by those who engage in academic communities. It is deliberate, reflective, and thorough (Brown and Clarke, 2014).

1.8.8 DELIMITATIONS/SCOPE

According to Ndlovu (2016:78), "delimitation clarifies the boundaries exceptions and reservations. It is a procedure that gives researchers control to limit the scope of data included in the research". The research will be done on the community surrounding the M section at Umlazi, where a lot of RDP houses were built. Twelve community members will participate in this study. The study will be easily controlled as it will not include the whole community of Umlazi.

1.8.9 LIMITATIONS

The population group will be key informants within the community of Umlazi. Despite the fact that gender-based violence exists in all societies, we are not able to study it in all of them. Since this study involves twelve participants living in the community of Umlazi, details found through this research may not translate to other settings.

1.8.10 VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY

Validity in qualitative research ensures certainty with confidence in our results (Hammersly, 2011). It is the extent to which interpretations of data is justified by the theory and evidence used.

According to Creswell (2013), key criteria of validity are credibility, transferability, dependability and conformability. What makes Validity is important because it provides the nature of what is valid. Validity will be ensured through recordings of the interviews and focus group discussions that allow re-visitation to confirm what was said. The participants will be informed that their identities will not be disclosed. I will also use appropriate participants (adults including men and women) who care about gender-based violence and are willing to provide their experiences and perceptions to strengthen the validity of the study. The questions for the individual and focus groups will be similar, allowing me to compare the responses of participants.

1.8.11ETHICAL ISSUES

I will respect the participant's values, beliefs, and norms and protect the participant's confidentiality. Advice about what the study involves and its objectives will be given to the

participants at the beginning of the study. They will also be advised that they are free to withdraw from the study at any time they feel like not responding to a question if that question makes them uncomfortable. Approval from relevant ethics and governance bodies will be ensured. A consent form will be given to every participant to sign. I will try by all means to prevent any harm and ensure the benefit of the study to participants. All participants will be equally treated, and I will comply with Durban University of Technology's research ethics and guidelines. During the interviews, all participants will be given pseudonyms to protect their identities.

1.9 OUTLINE OF CHAPTERS

Chapter 1

The introduction provided the orientation for the research, which introduces the background information to the study, context, research aims and statement of the problem and research methods.

Chapter 2

The second chapter focuses on the theoretical framework of the study, which is informed by social constructionism. Gender and GBV will be unpacked together with social constructionism in South Africa.

Chapter 3

Literature Review – the reviews of relevant literature and empirical studies on the nature, causes, extent, prevalence and consequences of GBV are provided. The cultural dynamics that define GBV and the construction of masculinity are discussed.

Chapter 4

Research Design and Methodology – will provides an overview of the qualitative research design and methodology employed to conduct this study and will also outline how data was

collected and analysed. This included details of sampling procedures, data collection methods, research instruments, data analysis, ethical considerations, validity and reliability.

Chapter 5

Analysis – This chapter will analyse and interpret the data obtained from the participant and focus group interviews using thematic analysis.

Chapter 6

The Planning and Implementation of the Intervention Campaign-this chapter will present the planning of the intervention programme and how the implementation of action took place.

Chapter 7

Conclusion and Recommendations – this chapter will focus on the conclusions reached from the findings emanating from the participants' responses and offers practical and procedural recommendations based on interpretations derived from the research study.

1.10 CONCLUSION

The chapter outlined the research programme that was followed with the aim of reducing gender-based violence at Umlazi Ward 83. The background, purpose, aims and rationale of gender-based violence were provided. The definition of concepts, and the research methodology and design were introduced. All key concepts were elaborated to show the severity of the problem statement. Ethical issues were provided and the outline of chapters was presented. The next chapter will explore the theoretical framework that informed this study.

CHAPTER 2

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

2.1 INTRODUCTION

The chapter introduces the theory of the study. Its perspectives are based on the belief that human life exists due to social and interpersonal influences. Throughout the world, people belong to a community, whether they are a close or not, a part of the social environment is formed. Aronson, Wilson and Akert, 92011) states people can be conventional in their groups even when they engage in biased behaviour as they want to fit in and be accepted. Whereas Henslin (2006) asserts that gender is a structural feature of society and the sociological significance of gender is the device through which society controls its members. To put things into perspective, Boss (2008:23) asserts that gender is learned but sex is inherited.

2.2 SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONIST THEORY

This study will be informed by the social constructionist theory (Gergen, 1999; Katembo, 2015). Social constructionism focuses on the social, not the individual.

According to Berger and Luckmann (1991:8):

Social construction is concerned with the nature and construction of knowledge: how it emerges and how it comes to have significance for society. They see knowledge as shaped by the interaction of individuals within society. They view society as existing in both an objective and subjective reality. Therefore, interaction of people with the social world causes the social world, in turn, to influence people resulting in routinisation and habituation.

Moreover, Katembo (2015) states that social construction puts immense emphasis on the daily interaction between and how they use language to form their reality.

Galbin (2014:7) asserts that Social construction is a theory of knowledge of sociology and communication that scrutinises the development of constructed understanding of the world. This means that people's realities are formed through experiences and interactions with others.

Social constructionism places great emphasis on everyday interactions between people and how they use language to construct their reality. However, Cojocaru (2013) asserts that social constructionists believe that things that are usually viewed as natural or normal in society, such as the understanding of gender, race, class and disability are socially constructed. Galbin (2014) maintains that the principles of social constructionism are that realities are socially constructed and established through language and action.

According to Ratele (2016:8):

The social constructionist theory acknowledges that norms for masculinity, and femininity roles allocated to women and men, and sexual scripts differ widely across communities.

Thus, the primary aim of this study was to increase knowledge about the sociocultural, interpersonal and individual factors that motivate gender-based violence and gender-linked violence in South Africa. All known human societies make social distinctions based on gender, and virtually all allocate more power and higher status to men.

According to Paechter (2003:39), as early as birth, gender roles and identities are constructed by social forces. Through social interactions, boys and girls develop an awareness of gendered tasks. They recognise that when they become adults, men will hold extra power and will be more dominant as compared to women. Gender-based violence comes from social, cultural and religious practices that subordinate women.

However, the constructionist theory is very susceptible to changes creating new forms of practices and behaviours (Andrews, 2012). In times of rapid change in the world, social constructionism can be a useful approach to address gender-based violence. South African communities can embrace changes in the context, pointing to new opportunities for doing research and intervention. Social constructionism is a way of thinking that does not have to be expertise-based, rational, hierarchical, and result-focused models moving toward more participatory, co-creative and process-centred ones (Hadebe, 2012).

This theory served to inform objective one in exploring the extent and impact that cultural dynamics have on gender-based violence. Gender is therefore socially constructed rather

than genetically determined. Everyday activities then reinforce the gendered nature of people's lives. The theory is based on gendered norms forming the basis of the stratification system that positions men and women unevenly and men are above women even if race and class are the same. As a result, men and women may act in particular ways that they think are crucial to their gender despite the consequences. This is often underwritten by violence. The social constructionism theory may account for the paradoxical inequalities that exist. It is an important theory in understanding the underlying reasons for behavioural patterns such as sexual harassment, which would allow for better preventative intervention. This further relates to objective two: What is the relationship between the construction of masculinity and gender-based violence?

2.3 GENDER AND SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONISM

Nanda (2014) asserts that gender is a matter of social, cultural and psychological constructions that are based on the biological differences of sex.

According to D'Hease and Kirsten (2006:76):

Gender is defined as the socially built power relations men and women characterised by a set of provisions of culturally flexible features and roles that men and women perform on daily basis.

Gender, therefore, refers to the roles that society expects of males and females. Gender is a constructive element of social relationships based on the alleged differences between sexes, and it is a primary way of signifying relationships of power (Katembo, 2015). The main focus of social constructionism is on explaining and clarifying the ways in which people come to describe, explain and make sense of the world in which they live (Gergen and Davis, 2012). It also tries to make general forms of understanding relevant as they exist in the present, as well as the way they have existed in past historical eras and might still exist in the future. This study fits the social constructionist approach in that it attempts to understand specific experiences of gender violence in the district of Umlazi and how they make sense of these experiences in the context in which they find themselves. It further helped me to understand why victims accepted gender based violence and were reluctant to report the violence.

Gender is socially constructed and a result of socio-cultural influences throughout an individual's development (Schroeder, Grumman, and Couts, 2005). Hammersly (2007) further asserts that gender identity can be influenced by the ethnicity of the group, historical and cultural background, family values and religion. We learn our gender because people conform to their groups and will do the same even when they engage in unfair behaviour as they want to fit in and be accepted. Nanda (2014) asserts that unequal gender power relations and related social norms are the root cause of violence against women and girls.

2.4 SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONISM IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN CONTEXT

According to Hadebe (2012:45), the switch to democracy in South Africa in the 1990s brought changes to the existing gender order. The change in politics brought new initiatives that broadened the activist's work to realise gender equality, the process by which fair and just distribution of opportunities and resources between men and women is realised.

These changes are reflected in the South African constitution, which was introduced in 1996. Men are responding differently to the change in gender relations because they feel their masculinity is being compromised. As a result, research findings show that gender-based violence has escalated. The social constructionist perspective attempts to broaden the discussion on culture, masculinity and patriarchy to resolve and flatten the curve on violence against women and girls in society.

However, Katembo (2015) asserts that after 1994, South Africa implemented several policies to address gender inequality, one of which was formulated by the Gender Equality Task Team (1997). These policies have been created to redress the past injustices against gender inequality, with specific reference to women and children. As a result of these policies, men are encouraged to become nurturing and non-violent and to develop mutually respectful relationships with their partners and commit to the principles of the South African Constitution. These principles represent an ideal of a South African man who is admired by women who have lost trust in and fear of men. However, traditionalists perceive these characteristics as compromising their masculinity. Their response to change suggests that men feel disrespected in the home, community, and society and that they are not favoured by the law, which now has high regard for women. This suggests that there will be challenges

when it comes to the change in traditional masculine thinking. In this study it was found that traditional masculine beliefs were deeply entrenched in this community and social constructionism helped me analyse many men were prepared to protect their dominance through the use of violence.

2.5 SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONISM AND GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

According to Andrews (2012:4), social norms have a powerful effect on how violence against women and girls is enacted and how it can be tackled; for example, rape is more common in settings where social norms condone men's sexual, coercive, or aggressive behaviours. He further states that evidence also shows that women and girls' ability to resist violence and access justice and support after the violence is highly dependent on social norms that operate within communities. Take, for instance, communities where social norms and practices prevent women and girls from reporting violence or seeking services that can hinder gender-based violence from being addressed.

Rakoczy (2004:29-35) argues that women's experiences between 1994 and 1996 raised serious concerns about men. Unfair discrimination on the grounds of gender and sex in the private and public spheres compelled women to affirm and defend themselves.

The origin of alleged differences between the sexes and gender is a primary way of representing relationships of power and gender has been a practical aspect of social relationships. It is increasingly understood that men's use of violence is generally a learned behaviour entrenched in the socialisation of boys (Ricardo, Eads and Barker, 2011).

The question to think about is that if all men are prone to being violent, why is it that some men are non-violent? If some men are non-violent, this indicates that violence is socially constructed (Katembo, 2015). Benatar (2012:90) argues that the characteristics of males and females have no biological basis and have nothing to do with nature but are the result of social experiences. Katembo (2015) concludes that gender is learned as early as birth. Gender is a social construct of masculinity and femininity that is acquired in a social context. Men and women are expected to match the expectations approved by their families, societies and cultures.

According to Hadebe (2012), the high levels of GBV area result of the ways of thinking men have been subjected to. They follow traditional ideas of what it means to be a man to sustain their masculinity. The debate on masculinity is broadened by the social constructionists' perspectives that focus on how gender patterns are constructed and practices change in the human phenomenon. I found in this study that traditional masculine practices were difficult to change and women that resisted often were victims of GBV.

2.6 Conclusion

The theories discussed in this chapter provided an understanding of the underlying reasons for gender based violence in many instances and also informed the planning and implementation of the preventative intervention.

The theories provided a useful lens in this study of GBV in this community, as an understanding of the construction of gender is key to understanding gender-based violence. The theories highlighted that interventions should not be confined to isolated individuals but should promote collective and coordinated change. The approaches to tackling gender-based violence discussed in this chapter served to inform the intervention strategies that I employed to gender based violence in this particular community.

CHAPTER 3

LITERATURE REVIEW

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Gender-based violence is generally persistent. Shai (2013) states that GBV undermines not only the safety and dignity of human rights but also the overall health status of millions of individuals who experience it. It also affects the public health, economic stability and the security of nations. The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development ranked South Africa fourth in gender-based violence among 87 countries (Hendrie, 2012). The literature examined in this chapter is drawn from national and international perspectives. The review will be discussed under the following headings: definition of gender-based violence, cultural dynamics of gender-based violence, construction of masculinity, causes and nature of GBV, effects of gender-based violence and intervention programmes to combat gender-based violence

3.2 DEFINITIONS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

The lack of consistency in definitions has been recognised as one of the major flaws in the research. Many researchers offer definitions of sexual harassment and the perception of what constitutes sexual harassment and agree that a concise definition is a major stumbling block to intervention and programmes (Skoog, et al., 2019). Definitions differ according to the reason for use, whether for legal, research, or social purposes. Often, definitions used in research depend on the disciplinary perspective of the researchers (legal, criminological, social justice, public health, etc.). In addition, the cultural background of the geographical region also influences the standardisation of definitions. For example, sexual coercion in one cultural setting may not have the same meaning in another. This has resulted in the non-comparability of prevalence data between studies.

According to Ward (2002: 8–9):

Gender-based violence is an umbrella term for any harm that is perpetrated against a person's will: that has a negative impact on the physical or psychological health,

development and identity of the person, and is the result of gendered power inequities that exploit distinctions between males and females, among males, and among females.

Although an 'official' definition of gender-based violence does not exist, and in fact, the term is contested, most definitions in the human security literature are worded along similar lines. The global problem is that gender-based violence is persistent in all societies in the world (Moffet, 2006).

Moreover, according to Okolo (2018:77), gender-based violence is a common social problem that results in physical, sexual, or mental harm to women. The definition of domestic violence used by the UK government and its approach to eliminating violence against women and girls reflects the broad UN definition of gender-based violence against women.

DeKeseredy (2000); Gordon (2000); Kilpatrick (2004) and Saltzman; 2004) states that the merits and consequences of restricting the definition of violence to physical actions or extending it to non-physical forms of abuse have been discussed in the gender field. On the one hand, some argue for a broad definition of violence that includes acts of power that are not crimes to build concepts of a 'continuum' of violence (Kelly, 1988) and 'coercive control' (Stark, 2007). Others note the consequences of breadth that are not always desirable since they draw minor acts into the frame of violence that can obscure the extent of gender inequality found in the more severe acts (Radford, 2003). For example, Steffensmeier *et al.* (2006) found that between 1980 and 2003 in the US, widening the definition of violent crime to include borderline incidents changes the gender composition of perpetrators since these borderline incidents are unreasonably perpetrated by women, thereby leading the official record to show a narrowing of the gender gap in the perpetration of violent crime. A compromise is to collect data on a wide range of forms of abuse that enables definitions of data to be drawn at different thresholds to meet different definitions (Saltzman et *al.*, 1999; Walby and Allen, 2004).

International studies recognised gender-based violence as a crucially important dimension of wider gender inequalities and gender power relations in all societies of the world. GBV is a form of torment for women that include threats of acts of cruelty or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or private life. Notably, perpetrators might include family

members, community members or those acting on behalf of cultural or religious authorities (Mcilwane, 2013:51).

However, Durbar (2012) argues that GBV is an umbrella term used to describe any harm that is perpetrated against a person's will and that results from power inequalities that are based on gender roles.

In South Africa, gender-based violence is defined as violence committed against women and girls as a result of social norms about the roles and behaviour expected of each gender (Nkonyane, 2016). It is deeply entrenched in gender inequality and violates human rights in all societies of different cultures. Sukhu (2012) defines gender-based violence as the wilful infliction of injury to women. A point to be taken into consideration is that gender-based violence increases the factor of subordination based on men's accepted or assumed superiority. However, Mcilwane (2013) defines gender-based violence as a crucial dimension of wider gender inequalities and gendered power relations in all societies of the world.

According to Ndlovu (2014:30), in general, GBV refers to any harm perpetrated against a person's will that negatively impacts on the physical or psychological health development and identity of the person that comes from the gendered power inequalities that exploit the distinction between males and females.

A definition for gender-based violence in South Africa can be found in the Domestic Violence Act 116 of 1998, which defines domestic violence as physical abuse, sexual abuse, verbal and psychological abuse, economic abuse, intimidation, harassment, stalking, damage to property, entry into a complainant's residence without consent where they do not share the same residence, or any other controlling or abusive behaviour towards a complainant where such conduct harms or may cause imminent harm to the safety, health or well-being of the complainant (Domestic Violence Act 116 of 1998:4).

Chirwa (2012) states that women in rural areas experience humiliating acts of abuse such as rape and domestic violence in most instances. These cases are not reported to the police thereby depriving the women of their self-esteem. They are afraid to speak out and stand up for their rights. Bloom (2008) argues that gender-based violence is a common method of

denominating the management of power relations whether in rural or urban areas. Gender-based violence is an intensely prevalent problem in South Africa, impacting every aspect of life. All these aspects are deeply entrenched in institutions, cultures and traditions in South Africa (Moolman, 2016).

As mentioned earlier in this section, there are many different definitions of gender-based violence. GBV is the most commonly reported crime in rural communities in South Africa. It remains private as it occurs in homes as acceptable behaviour for women and men. The Committee on the Elimination of all Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) defines gender-based violence as a form of discrimination that seriously inhibits women's ability to enjoy rights and freedom on the basis of equality (Nkomo, 2014). Ndlovu (2014) states that the forms of violence range from sexual assaults, physical and emotional abuse, domestic violence and verbal abuse. Family attitudes and pressure ensure that this remains hidden from the outside world, which is difficult to be traced".

Statistics show that one out of three women experiences physical or sexual abuse in her lifetime (WHO, 2014). It does not only affect the victims but also their families and communities, as well as the peace and prosperity of the nation at large. According to Bloom (2008),

The South African government, together with all sectors, annually embark on the National 16 Days of Activism, campaign to oppose violence committed against women and children. Definitions of gender-based violence occur as a result of normative role expectations associated with each gender, along with unequal power relationships.

According to Nkani (2006:12), gender-based violence in South Africa has been identified as a key area of concern that needs to be addressed urgently. Violence against women constrains the enjoyment of women's human rights everywhere. The researcher's involvement in this epidemic is crucial to raise awareness of victims, expose perpetrators and create a platform for male involvement in every campaign organised to eliminate gender-based violence. Gender-based violence is so widespread that it threatens the future and safety of women and girls.

Societies free of gender-based violence do not exist, and South Africa is no exception. The fight for gender equality is an ongoing struggle throughout the world. It makes no difference how you define it. Gender-based violence is pervasive. After the democratic election in 1994, the South African constitutional court implemented a law that protects any South African citizen against injustice and provides women with a full range of rights, including the right to be free of violence (The Constitution of Republic of South Africa, 1996). This act defines violence against women as including physical violence and other forms such as emotional, economic, threatened violence and stalking. The South African Constitution confers everyone the right to dignity and privacy, which gender-based violence violates and has a negative impact on the whole community (Nkani, 2006).

From the above discussion, it can be gleaned that the definition of gender-based violence is broad and varied. I find that the most relevant definition of GBV to this particular study is that of the UN Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women (United Nations, 1995):

Any act of gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or psychological harm or suffering to women, including threats of such acts, coercion or arbitrary deprivations of liberty, whether occurring in public or private life. Violence against women shall be understood to encompass, but not be limited to, the following: physical, sexual and psychological violence occurring in the family [and in the community], including battery, sexual abuse of female children, dowry-related violence, marital rape, female genital mutilation and other traditional practices harmful to women, no spousal violence and violence related to exploitation ... sexual harassment and intimidation at work, in educational institutions and elsewhere, trafficking in women and forced prostitution ... and violence ... perpetrated or condoned by the state. It further recognised the particular vulnerabilities of women belonging to minorities: the elderly and the displaced; indigenous, refugee and migrant communities; women living in impoverished rural or remote areas; and women in detention".

According to the Commission for Gender Equality (2010:178), South Africa has formally approved the Beijing Platform for Action (BPfA), the SADC Declaration on Gender and Development, the UN Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Discrimination against

Women and other international instruments The development of various pieces of legislation, such as the Domestic Violence Act (No. 116 of 1998), the Criminal Law (Sexual Offences and Related Matters) Amendment Act (No. 6 of 2012), the Maintenance Act (No. 99 of 1998), the Protection from Harassment Act (No. 17 of 2011) and many others that have been influenced by various international instruments to deal with GBV. It is well known that South Africa has effective policies to address GBV, but the limitation is in the implementation.

3.3 CULTURAL DYNAMICS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

Culture influences how gender violence is viewed. It fosters pride, resilience belonging, intersexual identity and connection to the community. Culture justifies gender-based violence and inequality by evoking traditional beliefs and practices about how women and girls should be treated.

According to Katembo (2015:20), some African cultures accept gender-based violence against women as a correctional measure that men can act without hesitation. Gender-based violence is culturally acceptable as they are viewed within the bounds of what is expected of men in their interaction with women. This not only creates an insecure environment but also impedes the ability to deliver in today's competing world (Dhirania and Chawla, 2019).

A study of gender-based violence in the Zulu culture by Langa (2011) shows that Zulu wives are subjugated by the Zulu culture and that they silently bear the misery of oppression. Some are not even aware of it because GBV is deeply entrenched in their culture, such that they fear the misfortunes that could befall them if they defy their culture.

According to Katembo (2015):

No factor can be singled out as the cause of gender-based violence as factors complement each other. However, in many cultures, it is taken at face value that women should be submissive and that men should use force to ensure this submission.

However, Ndlovu (2008) states that GBV has strong links to the traditional practice of female subordination in general. Gender-based violence is often an extension of men's power in society.

3.3.1 CULTURAL PATRIARCHY

According to Austin (2016:19):

The historical nature of gender-based violence is systematically entrenched in culture and society is resistant and powered by patriarchy. Patriarchy is about the social relations of power between men and women. A patriarchal value system justifies and maintains the present order for men to hold primarily power, control and enjoy social rights.

Ernason and Pease, (2016) also referred to GBV as the core cause of the existing hierarchical gender order, which results in traditional stereotypes and gender norms that always disperse women and girls as subordinate in the family, community and society roles.

According to Bradshaw (2013):

Dominant and hegemonic characteristics are promoted as attractive attainments and behaviour for men in a given society and demand men to position themselves in relation to idealistic images.

Manliness is then judged by their ability to live up to that normative belief of hegemonic masculinity (Austin, 2016). Once women challenge this negative patriarchal behaviour, it results in violence; for example, in most African cultures men are allowed to have multiple sexual relationships and polygamous relations. In an analysis of gender-based violence according to Khetusegile (2000:155):

Violence against women in most instances is viewed by society that it does not cause visible injuries to women. This makes it difficult for women to talk about 'small incidents of violence that often lead to 'real' violence or even death.

Boonzaier (2004) asserts that family and gender roles support patriarchy, male domination and abuse. When violence is used as an expression of male authority, women become appropriate victims. Zulu culture is patriarchal (Ntsimane, 2015). Men are perceived as the

heads of the family. In typical African tradition, men lead, and women follow, (Ngcobo 1999:6).

Magwaza (2001:25) confirms that Zulu society has always been largely patriarchal. Men are encouraged to exercise control and authority so as not to be ruled by women. As a result, violence against women becomes a gender equity issue (Bower, 2003). Ndlovu (2014) further states that, generally, African women are socially subordinate; they simply do not have a say in matters affecting them.

Countless women, mostly Black African women, are subjected to patriarchy in rural and traditional settings and remain submissive and silent, a symptom of imbalanced gender power (Morrell, 2003:50). De Wet (2008) supports this notion by highlighting that most South African women become powerless when confronting gender issues in culturally patriarchal communities. Gender ideologies become the basis of social norms, practices and rules; these processes in turn inform masculine and feminine identities. Masked as culture, these identities and ideologies become stubbornly defended as traditional and immutable (Subrahmanian, 2005:398). A culture of silence towards and tolerance of gender-based violence exists in South Africa (Gracia, 2004). It limits help-seeking, which leads to the continuation of violence. International scholars, Paquette, et al. (2019); Moore and Warton (2019) and Vanska (2019) are in consensus in that there are gender differences in the perception of sexual harassment and that women are more likely than men to find certain forms of behaviour as harassing.

Kim (2007:23) reported that the participants of a women's empowerment intervention highlighted that they do not discuss domestic violence because it is not done in that way in their culture. Moreover, Mataba (2016) asserts that cultural norms play a huge role in shaping societal gender attitudes and behaviour. Vetten(2005) states that some victims do not go to the police station to report their cases due to the patriarchal attitudes of some police officials.

In African culture, men are viewed as the patrons of the family and community (Khambarani, 2006). A man as a patron is seen as the guardian of his family. They love to see their sons follow in their footsteps and carry on their legacies. According to Hadebe (2010), chiefs go to great lengths to allocate land to homestead heads rather than women. Due to the fact that

African culture is patriarchal, females remain subordinate to males, resulting in gender-based violence.

3.3.2 MARRIAGE -LOBOLA

Lobola is a practice whereby the groom bequeaths gifts in the form of money or livestock to the parents of the bride. According to Ansel (2001), the groom of the family is in charge of providing the gifts after negotiation between the two families. It is a token of appreciation to the bride's family. Despite its cultural benefit, some men have a misunderstanding of bride price as their right to control and treat their partners as their property. This results in gender-based violence in some marriages. These men justify their abuse by stating, "I paid lobola for you" (Loudsin and Vetten, 2005:24). Women then normalise this abuse in their marriages by conforming to it. Some men take lobola as an entitlement to punish women who are not submissive to them. Traditional idioms such as 'You must be patient, you vowed until you die' encourage women to stay in abusive marriages. According to Loudsin and Vetten (2015:43),"Women who decide to leave are culturally mocked, called names or seen as failures in life. Some women feel trapped in their marriages as they are unable to pay back lobola". As a cultural practice, it is against the origin of lobola to be harmful to women.

3.3.3 GENDER ROLES

Gender roles are formed through social interaction between people in the so-called gendered socialisation process, which begins from early childhood to adulthood and throughout the whole life cycle (Bradshaw, 2013). In African culture, women are responsible for teaching gender roles to their daughters (Ntsimane, 2015). Mothers reinforce traditional ideas about manhood while fathers always play a limited role in the upbringing of their children during infancy. Mothers teach girls how to cook, clean the house, plant crops and look after their young siblings. Respect for the elders and never speaking back unless told to, are some of the cultural values taught (Niala 2011). In many rural communities, boys are given a pet name when they are born. They must look after cattle, where they learn to stick fight. They are encouraged to be strong and respect their elders. A boy's transition from childhood to manhood is mastered by dominance, authority and power. Fatherhood in African society honours the father or eldest male as the head of the family. Sons are expected to inherit

physical characteristics. Parents resort to physical violence by spanking and beating their children when they do not conform to house rules in the Zulu culture (Franklin, 2003).

According to Nkani (2006:49), children observe the way their parents deal with unwanted behaviour at home, and when they grow into adults, they will emulate their parents' behaviour when dealing with similar behaviour. From birth, males and females are translated into exclusive gender roles, where males are given power and status over female roles. As adults, they are expected to perform their respective roles. Children observe their fathers, who have power over their mothers, and that a boy child is favoured over a girl child. What they observe is confirmed by the practice of the larger society.

3.4 CONSTRUCTIONS OF MASCULINITY AND GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

According to Connell (1987:17):

Masculinity is a product of social construction in every context. To most people, being a man or woman is above all a matter of experience. It is something involved in the way we grow up, the way we conduct family life and sexual relationships, and the way we represent ourselves in everyday situations. The need to learn how one gender behaves is very important.

However, Hadebe (2010) further states that a new-born child has biological sex but no social order and, as it grows older, society provides a string of prescriptions, templates, or models of behaviour for one sex or the other. These social prescriptions determine what acceptable gender behaviour is. This implies that masculinity as a social construct is a type of identity that influences and shapes attitudes and behaviours.

In South Africa, masculinity is defined by physical strength, toughness, and the stoical and authoritative presence of men (Leshilo, 2015). Men have been the more dominant gender. In African culture, from birth, men are respected more than women just because of being male. Before South Africa became a democracy, the country was ruled by men and was so-called a man's country (Morrel, 2001). Power was clearly held by men in public and political spheres and even in families. Men held power and made decisions. Salaries were not the same; men were paid more than women for the same jobs. Connell (2001) states that men present

themselves with these factors in everyday situations that are interdependent in human social relations: they are subordinate, complicit, marginal and hegemonic.

Boys and men are not born violent or with intrinsic violent tendencies. They are born into a culture where a gendered hegemony exists that prescribes a form of masculinity that legitimises violent practices as a way to achieve or maintain some sense of being a 'normal' man. But not all boys and men will accept these norms, or even if they do, they will not accept them all the time and in every context. Boys negotiate norms in their lives through the demands of particular circumstances that they find themselves in. In some cases, boys may 'obey' hegemonic norms, while others may defy them (Mataba, 2016). It is for this reason that a microanalysis of the ways in which violence occurs is so important.

3.5 CAUSES OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

According to Shabalala (2012), there are many causes of gender-based violence. A traditional attitude towards women around the world perpetrates violence. There is no single cause to be blamed for gender differences between boys and girls (Katembo, 2015:33).

3.5.1 IMBALANCES OF POWER

The root causes of gender-based violence were found by many studies to be the imbalances of power in gender inequality and discriminatory patriarchal practices against women (Mpani, 2015). These practices often favour men over women. Ndlovu (2013) asserts that the picture created by society portrays men as being strong, educated, creative and clever, while women are given the opposite of all these traits, which causes violence. He further states that violence against women is deeply rooted in the way society has set cultural beliefs, power relations, economic power imbalances and the masculine idea of male dominance. Lack of power and status makes women vulnerable. Gender discrimination promotes the belief that, according to them, men are more powerful than women. In African societies, dominant gender norms prevail and influence people (Ndlovu, 2013). The root cause of gender-based violence lies in unequal power relations between women and men. However, a variety of factors at the individual, community and societal levels, often combine to raise the likelihood of violence occurring (Pickup, 2001). Skidmore and Bell (2020) noted that victims of sexual assault and harassment in many contexts may be physically forced into sexual activities, drugged,

intoxicated and even incapacitated and thereby unable to give consent. Sexual harassment is above all a manifestation of power relations.

3.5.2 SOCIETAL INFLUENCES

Family

The family is the primary ground for the gender socialisation of children. The way parents bring up their children can create a disparity between boys and girls, thus becoming a source of gender-based violence in life later (Shabalala, 2012). Langa (2011) asserts that in Zulu culture, the husband and wife do not have equal status. According to Renzetti (2009), lack of knowledge is one of the causes of gender-based violence. The high rate of illiteracy in our society may increase the number of cases of gender-based violence amongst families. He argues that gender differences in boys and girls are created by upbringing and social influences as well as being physiologically determined by genes and hormones, among others.

Children who live in homes with domestic violence are exposed to different types of aggression (Dlungwane, 2017). Katembo (2015) further states that childhood exposure to domestic violence is related to the attitudes that children develop concerning the use of violence as an acceptable way to deal with personal stress and as an acceptable approach to conflict resolution. According to Dodge (1983), aggressive behaviour compromises children's social relationships, often causing children to subscribe to versions of gender-based violence.

Schools

Schools are also primary arenas in which children are socialised and where masculinities and femininities are shaped. Ndlovu (2013) asserts that schools and education systems, in general, follow a specific structural framework. This system itself does not deliberately expose children to violence.

According to Wilson (2013:22), the age/authority relations between teacher and student are the basic structure of schooling that interacts with the gender role. The institution of the school officially condones teachers' regulation and control of appropriate student behaviour

through, for example, the allocation of rewards and sanctions; the distribution of their time; attention in class and corporal punishment.

Given the structured and unbalanced power relations of schooling, the excessive use of sanctions can lead to abuse by these positions of authority. Girls are disproportionately the victims of physical and sexual abuse at school. In some schools, most girls do not complain because they fear reprisals, especially from teachers and they believe that no action will be taken against the perpetrators.

According to UNICEF (2001:59):

South Africa's transition to democracy has been accompanied by very high levels of both political violence and violent crime. Assault, rape and sexual violence are 'endemic' in South African schools. As levels of violence increase in society, so are the levels of school-related gender-based violence in schools.

Moreover, Netshitangani (2014) states that the problem of school violence is dissimilar in that it is difficult to pinpoint the cause of violence in schools. Gender-based violence in schools usually stems from discriminatory gender norms and stereotypes. Violations include verbal abuse, bullying, sexual abuse and harassment. Gender discrimination promotes a belief that men are more powerful than women.

The South African Commission on School-Based Violence (2008) enumerates factors that contribute to the cause of violence as the environment surrounding the school and the communities in which they live. Netshitangani (2014) asserts that causes were revealed by the findings of the study conducted in South Africa that are defined as poverty, unemployment, patriarchal notion of masculinity, vulnerabilities of families and exposure to violence and drug misuse, peer group influences, permanent exclusions of learners from schools because of bad behaviour and weak cultural enforcement.

Religion

Religion is a social arrangement designed to provide a shared, collective way of dealing with the known and unknowable aspects of human life, death and existence and the dilemmas that arise in the process of making moral decisions. As such, religion not only provides solutions to enduring human problems and questions but also forms the basis for social cohesion and solidarity (Mahmud, 2015:4). According to UNWOMEN (2015), in many parts of the world, religion plays an essential role in shaping cultural, social, economic and political standards. Authority figures (primarily men) interpreted religious texts in such a way that their gender roles and status in society favoured the men. Religious teachings and traditions implemented and embodied within the family and the community are passed on to future generations.

According to Katembo (2015:29):

Religion is used to abuse and discriminate against women. Religion is the opium of the mind and many people use it to abuse and discriminate against women. Despite the widespread engagement of women in their religious communities, religious leaders and those authorised to interpret religious doctrine are predominantly men.

Moreover, UNWOMEN (2015) states that faith-based organisations are most entrenched in patriarchal traditions. In some churches, women and girls are deprived of their rights to education and to privacy, whilst boys are free to be educated since they are more privileged than girls (Matenga, 2014).

3.5.3 ECONOMIC FACTORS

At the economic level, factors include poverty, unemployment and changing economic statuses among women and men (Shabalala, 2012). Poverty determines where and how you live. The space people live in can be small and cannot accommodate the whole family. The more crowded people are, the greater the chances of violence. Financial insecurity causes violence because of the high unemployment rate in African townships. If a man cannot establish authority, intellectually or economically, he resorts to violence (Shabalala, 2012).

Renzetti (2009) asserts that the depression of the perpetrator due to a low income or joblessness often pushes him to violence against his wife. The dependency level of one partner on another leaves one partner vulnerable to gender-based violence in society. Fawole (2008)states that women experiencing gender-based violence have more employment

problems like absenteeism at work and greater difficulty in maintaining workloads because of health problems, which, in turn, affect the economy. Fawole (2008) further states that disparities between husband and wife, especially on educational income and family level, cause disagreements among them and sometimes cause gender-based violence. Economic abuse is when the abuser has complete control over the victim's money. The male maintains control of the family finances, taking decisions about how much money should be spent without consulting his wife.

3.5.4 TOXIC MASCULINITY

Masculinity is a collective gender identity that has been socially constructed (Connell, 2002). Connell (2002) further argues that there are four categories of masculinity: dominant compared to submission, complicit compared to the opposite. Masculinity itself is not toxic, but when the notions and ideals of what it means to be a man led to dire consequences for a man himself or the people around him, it becomes toxic masculinity.

According to Barr (2019:8):

Toxic masculinity refers to harmful behaviours and attitudes associated with men, such as acting in an aggressively dominant way and the need to repress emotions during stressful situations that lead to violence. Men who have extreme self-reliance are driven by the need to do everything on their own, thus devaluing women's opinions and condemning anything feminine.

Whereas Kupers (2010) states that traditional stereotypes of men are socially dominant along with related traits such as misogyny and homophobia, they can be considered toxic due to their promotion of violence. Boys and men are expected to be active and aggressive, tough, daring and dominant (Mataba, 2016). These stereotypical images are generally unacceptable to women and girls because they limit their opportunities in life and hinder their involvement in social, political and economic spheres. Cultural and societal norms socialise males to be aggressive, powerful, unemotional and controlling by being dominant. Similarly, expectations of females as passive, nurturing, submissive and emotional reinforce women's roles as weak, powerless and dependent upon men, resulting in an unequal power relationship. This

socialisation of both men and women that results in unequal power relationships often creates gender-based violence (Pickup, 2001).

Connell (2005) and Posadas (2017) state that this lopsided focus on femininity and women addresses only one part of the problem and, therefore, renders progress partial as well. It leaves the power dynamics that support gender inequality unexamined and firmly in place. Further, it allows dominant or toxic masculinity to flourish unfettered based on simplified norms and understandings of traditionally masculine characteristics such as violence, physical strength and suppression of emotion and devaluation of women. The result is a culture that continues to award power and status to men despite how they behave or treat others, and that offers women a complex mixture of opportunity and constraint, empowerment and subjugation, which they must navigate on a daily basis.

However, institutions around the world have begun to take on the challenge of resisting toxic masculinity, mostly in higher education. Much of this work is aimed at expanding ideas about masculinity and involving men in anti-sexist work. For example, according to Elliot (2018:15):

Toxic masculinity supports and is supported by gendered patterns of power that perpetuate broad inequalities. The Men's Project at UW-Madison focuses on intersectionality and the complexity of masculine identities and helps participants develop the perspectives and skills necessary to challenge simplified definitions of masculinity and take on leadership roles in preventing gender-based violence and discrimination. Finding ways to promote healthy masculinity early and to teach boys and young men to recognize, reject and challenge simplified, toxic masculinity is essential for creating cultural change.

3.6 NATURE OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

The prevalence of GBV is deeply rooted in gender inequality and constitutes a serious human rights violation in all societies (Heise *et al*, 2002).

According to Mpani (2015:40), gender-based violence is a combination of harmful acts perpetrated against women and girls, such as wife abuse, sexual assault, murder and marital rape. Gender-based violence is a broad term that includes domestic violence, intimate

partner violence, sexual harassment and violence in the workplace. It cuts across races, mostly linked to discourses of gender inequalities. Gender-based violence may be sexual or non-sexual in nature and is violence directed against an individual because of his or her gender.

Non-Sexual Gender-based Violence

Women and girls experience all kinds of violence both in and out of their homes. Dzinavane (2016) asserts that men easily control women in their homes. Violence against women, which is perpetuated through cultural norms and traditions, reinforces male-dominated power structures and systems that are commonly referred to as patriarchy.

According to Heise, Ellesberg and Gottmeller (2002:55):

Violence against women is the most pervasive yet least recognised human rights violation in the world and is a key human rights issue that limits the victim's ability to enjoy their rights and exercise essential freedoms in social, political and economic spheres of life. Gender-based violence is a global pandemic that increases the vulnerability of women and girls, especially in developing nations.

Dzinavane (2016) asserts that acts of violence against women affect them emotionally. The ways males exact gender-based violence on women and girls in their relationships include being insulted or made to feel bad about themselves; being humiliated in the presence of others; being scared of the male perpetrator of violence; by the way the male partner looks at her, yells, smashes things, threatens to hurt someone she cares about; harassment; degrading comments, and threats of divorce or the intent to take another wife.

Gender-based violence in itself is a complex challenge that is heightened by cultural, patriarchal and political factors. Men suffer from controlling issues: by treating women as their subordinates; keeping them from seeing friends; restricting them from seeing their family of birth; insisting on knowing where she is all the time; getting angry if she speaks to another man; being suspicious and demanding that she asks his permission before seeking help; restricting access to family income, and excessive possessiveness.

The USAID gender equality and female empowerment policy (USAID, 2012:7) states that gender-based violence is a constraint to individual and societal development and women who experience violence are less likely to earn a living and be able to care for their children.

Sexual Gender-based Violence

One of the major violations that women and girls experience globally is rape. According to Carrillo, Connor and Fried (2003:11), Rap is often treated as a crime of passion rather than a misogynist act. Women and children, who are often the most vulnerable to human rights abuses, are also the ones who suffer the most from sexual and gender-based violence. Women are Being forced to have sexual intercourse when the female partner did not want to because she was afraid of what the partner might do; being forced to do something sexual that she found degrading or humiliating, such as specific attacks on the breasts or genitals.

Furthermore, Dzinavane (2016) asserts that perpetrators of sexual and gender-based violence are sometimes the very people upon whom survivors depend to assist and protect them. Sexual and gender-based violence perpetuates and overlooks violence within the family, the community and the state (Wilson, 2014).

Intimate male/female partnerships are the most pervasive form of gender-based violence. Representative sample surveys show that physical violence in intimate relationships is almost always accompanied by psychological and sexual abuse. Most women who experience intimate partner violence generally experience these acts over an extended period. Women often say that the psychological abuse and degradation of intimate partner violence are even more difficult to endure than physical abuse (Heise, Ellesberg and Gottmeller, 2002).

3.7 IMPACT OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

Dzinavane (2016) argues that gender-based violence is inflicted on women and girls, resulting in physical, sexual, psychological or economic harm or suffering, including threats such as acts of coercion, or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or private. It has an impact on families and communities both in the short term and long term (Nkomo, 2014).

The social and economic stress brought by COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated pre-existing toxic social norms and gender inequality. At the time when half of the world population was in lockdown due to COVID-19, the number of women and girls between ages of 15 and 49 who had been subjected to sexual and/or physical violence perpetrated by an intimate partner (GBV) was no less than 243 million (UN Women, 2020). Many countries from developing and developed economies reported an escalation of GBV during the lockdown; France reported an increase of 30% of domestic violence cases since the lockdown on March 17; Cyprus and Singapore reported an increase in helpline calls by 30% and 33%, respectively, in Argentina emergency calls for domestic violence cases increased by 25% since the beginning of the lockdown; in Canada, Germany, Spain, the UK and the USA, government authorities, women's rights activists and civil society partners have indicated increasing reports of domestic violence during the crisis, and/or increased demand for emergency shelter (UN Women, 2020).

3.7.1 IMPACT ON WOMEN'S HEALTH

The impact of violence on women varies widely. It depends on the nature of the particular incident, the woman's relationship with her abuser, and the context in which it took place. Gender-based violence typically has a physical, psychological, economic and social impact.

3.7.2 PHYSICAL

According to Dzinavane (2016), GBV affects women's reproductive health and physical well-being, leaving them emotionally and physically shattered. Gender-based violence takes away the victim's productive time as they have to address their abuse. More physical harm in the form of injury is the ultimate possible outcome of violence against women. Violence influences the risk of HIV and other STIs directly when it interferes with women's ability to negotiate safer sex in marriages.

3.7.3 PSYCHOLOGICAL

Verbal and physical violence may cause one to have lower self-esteem. Williams and Sweetman (2001) state that violence against women results in feelings of anxiety, fear, mistrust of others, inability to concentrate, loneliness, post-traumatic stress disorder, depression and suicide. A study by Wilson (2014) reported that some women felt detached

and estranged from others; therefore, they avoid people as much as possible. Psychological scars impede the establishment of health. Thus, the victims pass on frustrations to their children and others, thereby transmitting and intensifying the negative experiences to those around them.

3.7.4 ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL IMPACT ON WOMEN

Dzinavane (2016) asserts that violence against women results in rejection, ostracism and social stigma at the community level. The women's ability to participate in social and economic activities is reduced, and they develop an acute fear of future violence, which extends beyond the individual survivors to other members of the community. Damage to women's confidence results in fear of venturing into public spaces (this can often curtail women's education, which in turn can limit their income-generating opportunities) and increased vulnerability to other types of gender-based violence. Job loss due to absenteeism as a result of violence and the negative impact on women's income-generating power have an impact on the economy.

3.7.5 IMPACT ON WOMEN'S FAMILIES AND DEPENDANTS

Gender-based violence can create a culture of fear and mistrust by hurting children, women and families, leading to a lack of intimacy and safety within the family and intimate relationships. Katembo (2014) argues that the father might be arrested because of physical beating leading to disintegration in the family. Also, when the father is violent, the mother might influence the children to hate the father, which is unacceptable in a family setting. In the same vein, if domestic violence occurs repeatedly, the mother may divorce the father, and in the end, the African family structure will be destroyed. According to Wilson (2014) asserts that children who grow up in households where there is domestic violence have a greater risk of violence against them, as well as collateral effects on children who witness violence. As a result, withdrawal, low self-esteem, nightmares, self-blame, aggression against peers, family members, and property are some of the emotional and behavioural disturbances, increasing risk of becoming a perpetrator or a victim of violence.

3.7.6 IMPACT ON SOCIETY

As women are generally the immediate victims of gender violence, the consequences of gender violence extend beyond the victim to society as a whole. Mpani (2015) asserts that violence against women is a burden on the health and judicial systems. It is also a hindrance to economic stability and growth through women's lost productivity. He further states that it is a hindrance to women's participation in the development processes, lessening their contribution to social and economic development and constraining their ability to respond to rapid social, political, or economic change. Dzinavane (2016) states that women in abusive relationships tend to lose trust in social relationships, which weakens support networks on which people's survival strategies depend. As a result, networks are strained and fragmented, which are of vital importance in strengthening the capabilities of communities in times of stress and upheaval. Johnson, Widnall and Benya (2018), suggested that gender-based violence serves to perpetuate male power and control and is sustained by silence and denial; this results in a social toll and unnecessary burden on the individual and ultimately on social health services.

3.7.7 IMPACT ON THE PERPETRATORS OF VIOLENCE

According to Heise, Ellesberg and Gottmeller (2002:7), the effects of gender-based violence are devastating to the individual, family, community, country and nation at large. Perpetrators of violence result in sanctions by the community, facing arrest and imprisonment; legal restrictions on seeing their families; divorce, or the breakup of their families; feeling of alienation from their families, and minimising the significance of violence for which they are responsible. Thus, deflecting the responsibility for violence on their partners and failure to associate it with their relationships, which will definitely increase tension in the home? However, Nkomo (2014) regards gender-based violence as dangerous to women's health, thereby putting the perpetrator at risk of contracting STIs and even HIV/AIDS in the long run.

3.7.8 INTERVENTION PROGRAMMES TO COMBAT GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

Gender-based violence is a complex problem that requires versatile efforts to reduce it, including the empowerment of women and men with mindset change as good entry points. Awareness campaigns are a common approach to the primary prevention of gender-based violence.

According to Ndlovu (2015:19):

Many intervention programmes focus on women and ignore the agency of men in reducing gender-based violence. It is important to seek to work together as a team. Men may continue to act violently because of the lack of practical involvement in issues.

Whereas the Futures without Violence programme have asked the question: What can men do to help end violence against women and girls? They argue that it is important for men to be included in initiatives to end violence against women by using their positive influence as fathers, educators, coaches and policymakers to challenge the attitudes and beliefs that support violence. Through these programmes, Futures without Violence aims to develop new male leaders in the field who are willing to publicly speak and act to oppose violence against women and girls (Futures without Violence, 2019).

Sida (2010) proposes a three-pronged approach to combating gender-based violence:

- (1) Shifting focus from seeing women as victims to viewing them as survivors or agents of change with a strong emphasis on women and girls' empowerment agency.
- (2) Efforts to increase women's economic empowerment that enhance women's bargaining power and ability to leave abusive relationships.
- (3)Include men and boys as perpetrators and agents of change.

Mcilwane (2012) commended the community-based approach where the community assessed information on the nature of gender-based violence, raising awareness in the community and building networks to encourage community members to work together to

address gender-based violence through (NGOs). People have to be made aware of the importance of social relations as a way of preventing everyday violence.

According to Pennington (2014:35):

Changing mindsets and putting into place the economic fundamentals and necessary institutions to accelerate growth and reduce poverty, leaving no one behind, will be the key to achieving middle-income status. Improving the social status and rights of women and girls is a crucial part of the transformation.

Ndlovu (2016) states that the government needs to use public awareness campaigns in an attempt to alter public attitudes, values, or behaviours in the hope of reaching desirable social outcomes in order to stop gender-based violence. They can reach a wide range of people in a short period through television, radio and newspapers. Peer education and community workshops are approaches used in middle and low-income countries to change norms and behaviour.

3.8 CONCLUSION

Gender-based violence is a universally persistent and compound problem that requires multifaceted efforts to address. It continues to threaten the full enjoyment and advancement of women's rights. Furthermore, gender-based violence is deeply and systematically entrenched in patriarchal and cultural attitudes that perpetuate male supremacy, dominance and power, thereby further subjugating women and girls. From this chapter, it is clear that gender-based violence issues are complicated and tackling them requires efforts that will improve women's literacy and poverty levels, strengthen their decision-making and participation in all spaces, and engage men as partners as change agents in the fight against gender-based violence. GBV and COVID-19 are twin pandemics in South Africa and many other countries to varying degrees. Vulnerable groups, especially women, bear the brunt of health crises and/or any conflict. The empowerment of women, especially those with co-existing social identities of disadvantage, namely race, social class, ageism, disability and sexual orientation, is key for economic prosperity of countries (Simonovic, 2020).

The next chapter discusses the research design and methodology, the research approach, the participants, sampling techniques, the data collection procedures, the data analysis procedures and ethical issues will be discussed.

CHAPTER 4

METHODOLOGY

4.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter presents the research design for the study with clear evidence based on techniques that link the research process with the objectives of the study and specific methods used. A detailed discussion of the research design and methodology utilised will be the focus of this chapter.

According to Cohen, Manion and Morrison (2007:89), methodology refers to the approach used in research to collect data on the basis of inference and interpretation for explanation and analysis. The significant issues related to research design; research instruments and sampling procedures and processes are discussed. The chapter ends with a summary emphasising the main delineated procedures.

4.2 RESEARCH DESIGN

Research design gives guidance to a researcher throughout the collection of data until the researcher reaches the ultimate objective goal (Makongoza, 2016). The research design is vital to advancing proper planning and structuring of the study in such a way that the important validity of the study is maximised. In this study, a qualitative approach complemented with primary data to investigate the experiences of gender-based violence within the Umlazi area will be used. Qualitative research has a lot of methodologies that are different from one another. They all have two things in common. First, their focal point is real-world phenomena that are occurring or have previously occurred. Secondly, they involve capturing and studying the complexity of those phenomena (Leedy and Ormrod, 2018).

According to Leedy and Omrod (2005:134-135), qualitative research studies serve to reveal the nature of certain situations, settings, processes, relationships, systems, or people; enabling a researcher to gain new insights about a particular phenomenon; developing new concepts about the phenomenon; and discovering the problems that exist within the phenomenon. Furthermore, other purposes include allowing a researcher to assess the validity of certain assumptions, claims, theories, or generalisations within real-world contexts

and providing a means through which a researcher can judge the effectiveness of particular policies, practices, or innovations. Qualitative research provides a comprehensive, complex and detailed understanding of meanings and actions on observable phenomena, attitudes, intentions and behaviours. It gives voices to participants and it explores issues that lie beneath the surface of presenting behaviours and actions.

Moreover, Hammersly (2013) notes the crucial tradition in qualitative research in which situations are observed and interpreted. Creswell's (2014) qualitative research is an approach that studies consideration of the connotation that a person or a group is assigned to a societal or human problem.

This is relevant to my study as the process of research involves developing questions and collecting data in the participant's setting; analysing data inductively, that is, structured from specific to general themes; and thus, allowing the research to create interpretation and understanding of the data.

Jefferson (2014) asserts that qualitative research is defined as a method of understanding based on separate ways of enquiry to investigate societal or human problems. This study intends to understand the nature of gender-based violence and its impact on the research participants and community. Furthermore, the study is aimed at bringing out the consequences of gender-based violence, which are the painful experiences and dilemmas of the survivors. Qualitative research is applicable to my study because it provides the opportunity to explore and understand gender-based violence in Umlazi Ward 83 at large.

4.3 RESEARCH APPROACH

A participatory action research approach was used in this study. Giddings (2012) defines action research as an approach directed toward solving a problem. Gender-based violence has attracted many researchers trying to find solutions to eradicate the scourge. Participatory action research seeks to change and transform practitioners' practices and understanding of their practices and the conditions in which they practice, whereas Meteer (2014) adds that for action research to be a collaborative process, it must be both a democratic and democratising process. Action research is used in any setting where a problem involves

people, tasks, and procedures needing a solution, thus improving the social condition (Jefferson, 2014).

According to Creswell (2012):

The action research approach is typically a small-scale intervention in the functioning of the real world and a systematic, close examination, monitoring and review of the effects of such intervention.

Participatory action research (PAR) is based on reflection and so differs from most approaches in the way data is collected and the actions that aim to reduce a problem by involving the people who take action to improve their own lives (Cohen, Manion and Morrison, 2018). Participants chosen in my study were to play an important role in addressing the scourge of gender-based violence in the community of Umlazi.

With PAR, it is difficult to categorically state in advance what interventions will be used in the study. Action research is a type of research methodology that works toward some sort of change (social or professional). Action research studies are usually based on everyday issues and the aim is to create practical solutions to these problems. O'Leary (2007) defines action research as "research strategies that to produce both knowledge and action". Most participatory action research studies adopt a methodical, iterative approach that focuses on problem identification, action planning, implementation, evaluation and reflection. I wanted to find out the extent of GBV in this community. Further I wanted to address the problem of GBV by planning and implementing some form of intervention in the community. I further wanted to evaluate my campaign and improve it for further interventions. PAR suited my intentions.

According to Johnson (2012), these ten steps describe the action research process:

- Identify a problem or research topic decide what to study;
- Set the problem or research topic in a theoretical context review the literature and relate the research topic to current theories to provide a theoretical context for the findings;

- Make a plan for data collection data collection must be focused on and the elements of data collection must be determined before the research begins;
- Begin to collect and analyse data analyse data by looking for themes,
 categories, or patterns that emerge and influence further data collection;
- If necessary, allow the question or problem to change as you collect data –
 action research is a dynamic, ever-changing process and it is possible to change
 the sources of data, or the focus of the study as you are collecting data
 provided that you include it in your report;
- Analyse and organise the data this should be an on-going process to establish
 the number of total things that were recorded, the number of categories or
 kinds of things there are, and the number of things that are in each category;
- Report the data present the findings by providing an overview with detailed descriptions and illustrative samples of important events, activities, and responses as well as the number and types of themes, categories, or patterns present in the data;
- Make your conclusions and recommendations interpret the data and draw conclusions and recommendations to answer the research question and provide answers to the problem;
- Create a plan of action create a plan of action based on the conclusions and recommendations, implement the plan of action and assess the effectiveness of the plan, and
- Put your plan into action and evaluate determine if the plan works or if it needs to be changed or tweaked.

4.4. POPULATION/TARGET POPULATION

A population is normally a large group of people or objects that is the core focus of research (Langa, 2012). The population provides a sample and derives a conclusion from the results obtained from the sample. The population in my study included adult females and males within the Umlazi community. The target population are members of a large group that a researcher is interested in studying (Mataba, 2016). The results of the study were

comprehensive of the population because they have significant traits in common. The target population were members of the Umlazi community, who provided the study with clear and meaningful information with regard to the nature and level of gender-based violence within the community and its effects on women and men. The population of Umlazi is 404811 people, with ward 83 having 36 253 people.

The research study consisted of twelve participants. The key to finding the right number of participants to recruit is to estimate the point at which you will reach data saturation, or when you are not gleaning new information as you add participants (Mataba, 2016). Practically speaking, this means that the researcher is not creating new codes or modifying the codebook anymore. Guest et al. (2006) found that in homogeneous studies using purposeful sampling, like many qualitative studies, 12 interviews should be sufficient to achieve data saturation. I chose 12 participants with this in mind and was also mindful that I would conduct individual and focus group discussions which I was sure would yield rich data.

Female and male community members of all social levels became the key participants in this study because they witnessed and/or were victims of gender-based violence in their everyday lives. The participants consisted of seven females and five males. Their ages ranged from twenty-one up to fifty years since this study focused on the experiences of the adult community of Umlazi.

4.5 SAMPLING METHOD

Sampling allows researchers to perform a study of individuals from a large population so that the results of the study can be used to derive conclusions that will apply to the entire population (Mataba, 2016). Non-probability sampling deliberately avoids a wider population but represents a particular group. It has a lower risk of bias. Qualitative research generally uses non-probability sampling (Cohen, Manion and Morrison, 2018). Purposive sampling has been chosen for this study because it provides access to knowledgeable people about gender-based violence. I chose purposive sampling because it allowed me to choose only those participants who had an interest in addressing GBV. This research is qualitative and used semi-structured interviews to get the participants to divulge information about their social relationships in society as well as their lives at home. Teddlie and Yu (2007) define purposive

sampling as an attribute of qualitative research where researchers choose a case to be included in the sample on their judgement of its typicality or possession of particular characteristics wanted. The sample is assembled to meet their specific needs.

A group of seven women and five men living in Umlazi were selected through purposeful sampling. According to Cohen, Manion and Morrison (2018:39), in qualitative research "the emphasis is placed on the uniqueness, idiographic and exclusive distinctiveness of the phenomenon, group or individuals in question that is they only represent themselves".

4.6. MEASURING INSTRUMENTS

An interview schedule was used to gather data for this research study. An interview schedule is a powerful tool for qualitative researchers (Cohen, Manion, and Morrison 2018). An interview schedule is a list of structured questions that has been prepared as a guide for conducting interviews to collect data about a topic or issue(Nghonyama, 2016). It determines the order of questions. These questions were specifically designed to gather information on gender-based violence.

An interview schedule was used to collect data for the interviews. A logical structure was adopted in the interview schedule. This was done by grouping questions into sections and advancing from the general to the specific. The questions were worded concisely to ensure that the interviewees had a clear understanding of the questions. This enabled me to gather as much information as possible in a limited amount of time.

4.7. RECRUITING PROCESS

The recruitment process initially involved referrals from the local councillor of people who were willing to share personal insight and provide an understanding of occurrences of gender-based violence in the community. Snowballing was then used where the initial participants identified a number of other participants from the same population and supported my gaining

access. They in turn identified further participants, and so the sample snowballed (Lee, 2003). I used snowballing because the population was small and shared similar traits.

Table 4. 1 Profile of Participants Interviewed

NAME	MALE/FEMALE	DETAILS	AGE
Thuli	Female	Thuli lives at Umlazi. She is still an intern in	38
		one of the clinics and does not receive a	
		salary. Her husband is employed. They have	
		no children.	
Zodwa	Female	Zodwa is unemployed and lives with her	40
		partner in a township RDP house. She has two	
		daughters from a previous relationship who	
		also lives with her. She was rejected by her	
		first husband. Her partner, who she is	
		currently living with, is employed and is much	
		older than her.	
Aphiwe	Female	Aphiwe is living with her husband in Umlazi.	29
		She lived with her husband for three years	
		before getting married. They have no	
		children.	
Senzo	Male	Senzo is a security officer in one of the	30
		schools in Umlazi. He is not married and is not	
		in a relationship.	
Themba	Male	Themba works as a handyman in the	40
		neighbourhood. He is a heavy drinker and	
		agrees that substance use in the area is high.	
		He has many girlfriends.	
Thandi	Female	Thandi is married and has three children. She	39
		did not complete metric and is unwell. She	
		collects a disability grant. She has suffered	
		serious abuse from men in her area.	
Sazi	Male	Sazi works at the supermarket near Umlazi.	27
		His wife works as a casual labourer. They rent	
		a room in a house in Umlazi.	

NAME	MALE/FEMALE	DETAILS	AGE
Qhawe	Female	Qhawe lives with her husband in one of the	30
		township houses. She is a teacher. Her	
		husband runs a business. Although she is well	
		educated, she still finds herself in an abusive	
		relationship.	
Thando	Female	Thando lives with her parents. She has a	35
		boyfriend and sometimes spends the night	
		with him. She is afraid of marriage.	
Hlengiwe	Female	Hlengiwe works as a cleaner at a school. She	33
		is now in a second marriage. Her second	
		husband is aggressive and has other	
		girlfriends.	
Dumi	Male	Dumi did not complete his schooling and	34
		finds it difficult to get a job. He frequents the	
		local taverns where he has many friends.	
Lunga	Male	Lunga works at the local police station and	
		lives in Umlazi. He is more of a liberal thinker.	37
		He has a girlfriend but is not married.	

4.8 DATA COLLECTION METHOD

Interviews were conducted face-to-face using a semi structured questionnaire with the chosen participants. This took place in different settings arranged prior to the meetings. Semi-structured interviews are meetings where the interviewer asks open questions that do not follow any formalities. Open questions allow the discussion to deepen. This method offers a balance between flexibility and a structured ethnographic survey (Ndlovu, 2008). It uncovers rich, descriptive data on the personal experiences of participants. One face-to-face interview of 50-minute duration was conducted with each of the participants. The first part of the interview focused on biographical data to obtain an overall impression of the participant and to understand each person's story of (his or her) life. The second part of the interview was designed to obtain the experiences, perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs of the participants about gender based violence. The questions centred around the nature, causes and consequences of gender based violence.

Three focus group interviews were conducted. The focus group interviews were gender sensitive. One focus group was conducted with the seven females only, the second with the five males only and the third was a mixed group of males and females. The same interview schedule was used for all three focus groups. By using repeated interviews, I was able to gain richer and deeper insights into the respondents' unique meanings and was able to identify incoherent links. The repeated interviews with the respondents enabled me to interrogate what was said critically and to pick up on contradictions, inconsistencies and avoidances.

According to Harris and Kaye (2017:54), the action research process has three phases, which are: exploring the problem by collecting and analysing relevant data; planning and implementing the intervention and evaluating the short-term outcomes.

Participatory action research is dependent on practical action while focusing on generating, informing and building theory. The research intends to bring about positive change and improvement in the participants' social situations. According to Harris and Kaye (2017), the process enhances collegiality, collaboration and involvement of participants who have experienced gender-based violence in the area. The first exploration phase was face-to-face, followed by group discussions. This enabled the researcher to explore and collect data on the

nature, extent, causes and consequences of gender-based violence as well as the effectiveness of ways of minimising gender-based violence.

Participants were modified agents aiming at captivating a stand for a chosen future. They were interested in resolving, reformulating or refining situations in their daily lives through systematic planning, data gathering, reflection and further informal action. In order to gain understanding of the challenges and opportunities for effective reduction of violence, a combination of interviews and focus groups was used to plan and implement an intervention stage. The third stage of short-term outcome evaluation was held after participants reported on the intervention of the peace-building work. The evaluation of the outcome of the intervention was important to achieve objective five of the study.

4.9 DATA ANALYSIS

Data analysis is how we progress from understanding to the explanation and interpretation of the phenomenon in question (Taylor and Gibbs 2010). It includes organising, describing, understanding, accounting for, and explaining data. In my study, I used thematic analysis. Thematic analysis is highly inductive; themes emerged from data and are not obligatory upon a researcher. Thematic analysis asks questions related to people's experiences, views and perceptions. After the interviews were conducted, the researcher familiarised herself with the data while coding and generating themes. At the end, the themes were reviewed, allowing the researcher to define and name them.

Clark and Braun (2013) assert that thematic analysis is an approach to researching people's views, opinions, knowledge, experiences and values from interview scripts. Interviews can be conducted efficiently in communities with similar cultures that have experienced GBV. The researcher examined the data to categorise common themes that come up repeatedly. The focus is to identify patterns of meaning across the data gained from interviews with participants. The emphasis was on producing rigorous and high-quality analysis. Thematic analysis provides an accessible and systematic procedure for generating codes and themes for qualitative data (Harris and Kaye, 2017). The themes provided a framework for organising and reporting the researcher's analytic observations. The theme of the work is the main message, insight, or observation the writer offers. Thematic analysis was suitable for the

study as it presents data in such a way that it can be understood by all those who are involved in communities. It is deliberate, reflective, and thorough (Brown and Clarke, 2014).

4.10 ETHICAL ISSUES

According to Fraenkel and Wallen (2003:56), ethical issues are the questions of right or wrong and being able to conform to the standards of conduct of a given profession or group, and what is ethical is a matter of agreement among researchers.

The researcher took the participants' views into consideration throughout the interviews and made them feel comfortable sharing their experiences of gender-based violence in the area. As a researcher, I respected the participant's values, beliefs, and norms and protected the participant's confidentiality. Advice about the objectives and what the study involved was given to the participants at the beginning of the study. They were also advised that they were free to withdraw at anytime they did not feel like responding to a question if that question made him or her feel uncomfortable. Approval from relevant ethics and governance bodies was ensured. A consent form was given to each and every participant to sign. I tried by all means to prevent any harm and ensure the benefit of the study to participants. All participants were equally treated and I complied with Durban University of Technology's research ethics and guidelines. During the interviews, all participants were given pseudonyms to protect their identities.

4.11 VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY

Validity replaces uncertainty with confidence in the results of the study (Hammersly, 2011). It is the extent to which interpretations of data are justified by the theory and evidence used. Creswell (2013) states that credibility; transferability, dependability and conformability are the key criteria of validity. What makes validity so important is that it provides the nature of what is valid. Validity was ensured through recordings of the interviews and focus group discussions that allowed re-visitation to confirm what was said.

The participants were informed that their identities would not be disclosed. I used participants (adults including men and women) who care about gender-based violence and

were willing to provide their experiences and perceptions to strengthen the validity of the study.

The questions in the individual and focus groups were similar, allowing me to compare the participants' responses. I had frequent interactions with the participants and provided them with transcripts to validate what they had said in the interviews.

According to Cohen, Manion and Morrison (2018), reliability is about precision and accuracy. For research to be dependable, it must show that if it were to be conducted on a similar group of respondents in a similar context, similar results would be found.

Many women around the world who have experienced violence are willing to share their stories of abuse, and that is evidence that all the information given by them is legitimate. Some are exhausted and weary of this scourge. I used triangulation, which is the use of multiple data sources to develop comprehensive results.

For this study, simple, straight-forward interview questions were prepared for participants. This will further allow for reflexivity and reflection. A clear, reflective journal documenting decisions was kept. An auditable trail detailing a clear description of the research process was maintained to ensure reliability. The audit trail was to clarify why certain decisions were made and to show that the analysis followed a logical path based on the participants' responses. Keeping track of the decision-making was important in the data analysis, as it involved a recursive process whereby, I repeatedly went through the data and continued analysing before creating the initial themes.

4.12 LIMITATIONS AND DIFFICULTIES

Delimitation clarifies the boundaries, exceptions and reservations. It is a method that allows researchers to limit the scope of data incorporated (Ndlovu, 2016). The research was done in the community surrounding Umlazi Ward 83. The population group were key informants within the community of Umlazi. Gender-based violence is widely spread throughout different societies, but we cannot conduct a study on all of them. Each society has its own culture. Since this study involved twelve participants living in the community of Umlazi,

generalisation may not be translated to other contexts. The study was easily controlled as it did not include the whole community of Umlazi.

4.13 CONCLUSION

This chapter outlined the exhaustive research method used and discussed how the data was gathered, organised and analysed. The researcher used qualitative strategies to collect data. Individual interviews and focus group interviews were conducted. Then a discussion of the research methods, that is, data analysis and interpretation, sampling strategy and ethical issues followed. Data analysis and presentation are described in the following chapter.

CHAPTER 5

5.1 INTRODUCTION

The chapter investigates the patterns and activities of members within Umlazi, Ward 83concentrating on different experiences of males and females. My focus is on gender relations that exist among the members of the community and in doing so the nature, extent and causes of gender-based violence are investigated.

In what follows, I will describe, and at the same time, analyze cases of GBV. I will produce a plan of the forms of gender-based violence that shows and explains the contexts in which these incidents took place and how they contributed to shaping the participant's knowledge, awareness and construction of their own understanding of GBV.

I start my discussion by describing the nature of GBV as described by the interviewees.

5. 1 THE NATURE OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

In my discussion of the nature of GBV, I categorise the occurrence of the violence into the various forms that are manifested in this community.

5.1.1 INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE

According to Myende (2017:7), the most persistent form of gender violence in 36 countries indicates that between 10 and 60 women who have ever been married or partnered have experienced at least one incident of physical violence from a current or former intimate partner.

In my study, the participants did not mention intimate partner violence in the focus group interviews; on the other hand, the females provided detailed and graphic experiences of intimate partner violence during individual interviews.

Thuli (female 38 – individual interview): I got an internship in the local clinic. One day we worked until it was late. The supervisor who happens to be a male gave me a lift home. When I arrived home my husband was mad. He said I'm cheating now. He took my laptop and splashed it on the wall and said I must not go back to work as

from today when I tried to explain how important this is for my practical work. How can he do this – he is my husband. He forced sex that day, saying it is a test. It seems like we women have no life. I think about his possessiveness a lot.

Zodwa (female 40 – individual interview): I live with my husband and two daughters from my first husband. First, he was good to us. I trusted him with my daughters and loved him. Then he started the beatings, even on senseless things. If I complain he says that I must find another place to live. There is nowhere I can live as I'm unemployed. I have to endure the life of being beaten all the time. My neighbours are shying away from me as they say maybe it's me who has no respect. I can't report to the police as I have no one to assist with my children. I feel useless and with no purpose in life. I have given up all hope. Sometimes I feel I am better off dead.

Aphiwe (female 29 - individual interview): I've been living with my boyfriend for three years. We then decided to get married. Things started to change after marriage. He started swearing at me when he was drunk and called me names. It worsened as the days went by. He takes me when he wants and is aggressive. He says I am he's. I don't know what to do. I am not sure if women should be like this. I can't take it from a man that I thought I knew so well for three years.

Senzo (male – focus group interview): I know of men who do this violence on their partners. They feel that they are entitled.

Themba (male – individual interview): You see men do beat their girlfriends to make sure that they do not leave them. They do this to put fear in the girl. If she leaves or wants to see another guy, then they will know what will happen to them.

From the above evidence, we see that merely quantifying acts of violence does not reveal the terror experienced in abusive relationships. The women who were abused physically in their relationship said that in some moments they feared for their lives. The women mentioned that, unlike physical abuse, psychological abuse and degradation are even more difficult to endure. The women indicated that they were extremely depressed and anxious about the fact that their partners, whom they trusted, were inflicting harm on them.

They spoke of emotional harm and tried to understand the violence. They spoke of physical pain, but one cannot see the psychological harm caused by intimate gender-based violence. Some of the women mentioned suicidal ideation and feelings of hopelessness and worthlessness. The men, on the other hand, also spoke of intimate partner violence against women. They cited reasons for male entitlement and the fragility of men in terms of losing their female partners.

According to Katembo (2015:28):

The social constructionists argue that gender is a constructive element of social relationships based on perceived differences between sexes and gender is primarily a way of signifying relationships of power.

Moreover, Ratele (2016) states that the social constructionist theory recognises that norms for masculinity and femininity roles allocated to women and men and sexual scripts differ widely across communities. In this particular community, some of the men used physical abuse, which appeared to be a threat to maintain control over their partners and their relationships.

5.1.2 SEXUAL VIOLENCE

It was alarming to hear and note how common sexual violence was in Umlazi, Ward 83. Almost all of the female participants related incidents of sexual violence at least once in their lives. The men, however, indicated that they were aware of this type of violence but were not perpetrators or witnesses to such incidents.

Thandi (female 39- female focus group interview): I was going to a 6 o'clock study at school as a metric student. I usually walk with my friend but she was not feeling well on this particular day. I was walking alone early in the morning, suddenly a hand grabbed me and dragged me to a nearby primary school through a broken fence, I tried to scream but he had a knife on my throat. He threatened to use it so I had to follow his instruction. I cried and cried pleading with him to leave me alone but he didn't listen. He raped me. The scars in my heart are great I even couldn't finish metric because of the incident.

Aphiwe (female 29– individual interview): My mother came to live at ward 83in Umlazi after my father died and left us with nothing. Then when my mother got the boyfriend, we moved with her. At first, life was better as we had food on the table. When I turned 13 my stepdad started to abuse me sexually and told my mother that he will chase us out if she reports him. The abuse carried on for years.

Thando (female 35 – individual interview): My mother sent me to buy milk at a spaza shop near my home. I had to pass a few houses that are close together. I saw two boys that are gangsters in the neighbourhood standing on the way. They grabbed me and dragged me to their house and locked the door. That was a horrible day for me. They took advantage of me. My mother reported the case to the police but nothing happened. They made me live in fear because I always see them and they don't care as they had done this to other girls in the community also.

Sazi (male – focus group interview): I hear of rapes and things like that in this community. I am not sure if it is rape. Sometimes the lady does it and then says it was rape.

Lunga (male focus group interview): It is hard to prove rape. Sometimes men are forceful. It is their nature. Maybe some men do rape. But I do not know.

It was very alarming and distressing to hear about the cases of sexual violence in this community. It seems like sexual violence is the norm in this ward and that the men were entitled to the women who lived there. From the above testimonies, we see the devastation of sexual violence. Many different emotions, behaviours and physical responses surfaced. The cases described above are to help understand the nature of sexual violence in this ward. In all of the cases, it was very evident that the victim's sense of safety had been severely altered. It is also very saddening to note that all of the victims are still living in the same informal community and encounter their assailants often. The men were of the view that it was difficult to categorically say that a woman was raped or sexually abused. The men were non-committal about sexual abuse and rape and had reservations about claims of rape by females. Some men were of the view that perhaps some men do commit sexual abuse but were not definitive about their beliefs.

5.1.3 PHYSICAL ABUSE

Physical abuse is the intent to cause bodily harm, pain and injury to another person. The women in this ward were severely affected by this kind of violence. Both men and women provided evidence of physical abuse of women.

Senzo (male 30 – individual interview): I grew up watching my father beat my mum. When we were sleeping at night, I will hear my mom crying all the time. My mum would always try by all means to cover up the abuse and told us to respect our father. Sometimes my father will slap my mother for chewing gum so we grew up in a very tense environment. I'm so afraid that when I have my family, I would lose my temper like my father. You see men lose their temper and sometimes take their anger on the lady.

Themba (male 40 – focus group interview): Men get angry more quickly than women. They are not bad – just get upset quickly. When this happens, the lady must not trouble him otherwise he gets violent and beats her. I see this with men in the taverns as well. When he is calm everything is fine.

Thandi (female 39 – individual interview): I've been married for ten years. My husband has a bad temper. He did not help with anything after he lost his job. That was the beginning of a nightmare in our lives together with the children. He demanded alcohol and would beat me if I could not provide it. The situation got worse during the pandemic as I was not at work for a month. He would shout at me and always slapped me in front of my kids if I talk back.

Thuli (female 38– female focus group interviews): We've been married for two years. I haven't conceived and my husband cannot be patient. When we first met, I confided to him about the abortion that happened at varsity. He punches me when we argue about children. I still love him but now I'm just on the verge of divorcing him.

The above are a few of the numerous incidents of physical abuse that the participants relayed during my interviews with them. The females, especially in both individual interviews and focus groups, were very vocal about their experiences of physical abuse. Their stories had

overwhelming feelings of distress, fear and helplessness. The physical abuse that the victims experienced severely affected their emotions, thought and sense of self. All of the victims felt powerless and trapped.

The men mainly accepted that when a man is angry, he is justified in using violence against his partner. Most of the men believed that anger exonerated the physical abuse of women.

According to Katembo (2015:15), in social constructionist theory, gender is a constructive element of social relationships based on perceived differences between the sexes, and gender is primarily a way of signifying relationships of power.

The belief by some men that anger can be used as a reason to enact physical violence can be explained through social constructionism, which explains that the ways in which people make sense of their behaviour are socially constructed and a result of socio-cultural influences throughout an individual's development (Schroeder, Grumman, and Couts, 2005).

5.2 CAUSES OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

The causes of gender-based violence in our communities cannot be attributed to one single factor. The interactions of these factors lie at the root of the problem. While the causes of gender-based violence are numerous and varied, this section explores the causes of gender-based violence in this specific community. This section investigates what causes gender-based violence in Umlazi Township, Ward 83. Three main causes are discussed in this section: social norms, substance abuse and the construction of masculinity.

5.2.1 SOCIAL NORMS

I found from my discussions with the participants that social norms contributed to a substantial extent to the enactment of gender-based violence in this community. These social norms of cultural nature include low levels of women's empowerment, a lack of social support and socio-economic inequality.

5.2.1.1. Low Levels of Empowerment

The culture of this community has normalised and accepted men's violence against women within certain situations and circumstances. For example, it was socially acceptable for a man

to beat a woman if she displayed any signs of being liberal, broadminded and free-thinking. In the previous section, I provided testimonies where women reported being beaten by their male partners if they had male contacts on their cell phones. All of the women whom I spoke to mentioned that it was accepted by this community for a man to beat a woman for being liberal and displaying behaviour that was considered to be promiscuous.

Hlengiwe (female 33 - focus group interview): I'm a cleaner in a school. I live with my husband and two children. My husband has always been jealous. One time the principal phoned me to close windows at school. He was so angry. He scolded me and said I'm having an affair with the principal. He beat me and called me names. When I come home from work it is always tense. In this place, the people will also say that I was wrong and that a woman should not go alone to a place where there is a man. They are very strong about that here.

Qhawe (female 30 – individual interview): I've been married at an early age. My husband is the provider of the family. He allowed me to further my studies. Now I'm working as a teacher. I'm grateful for his assistance but it has killed my happiness. He controls me in every way what I'm wearing. I must only use certain clothing. I can't have friends. One time I was chewing gum, he slapped me on my face, saying that gum is for sluts. I can't report him even to his family because they will agree with him that I am not behaving like a woman. You see they believe in the old ways. Sometimes they even shout at me.

Thando (female: 35 – individual interview): My boyfriend is possessive. When I stay with him, I am not allowed to even greet my neighbours as he would say 'what did they tell you '.He checks my phone and sometimes is aggressive if he sees my friend's numbers who are men. He would delete them. His family was always asking me not to provoke him by not obeying. That is why I do not want to marry him. He threatens to kill himself if I leave.

Dumi (Male 34 focus group interview): You see there are certain things that an African woman should not do. Our culture is very strict. If your wife or girlfriend is loose and

acts in all sorts of ways it is embarrassing. We cannot allow this. So, sometimes we may have to sort her.

Lunga (Male 37– focus group interview): You see our community is watching and men know this. If ladies behave otherwise then they say it is not right. As a man, the people must know that you have control of your wife. Not all men believe this but they must show the community they are men and your partner must listen to you. Otherwise, a man may use violence.

We see that low levels of economic empowerment contribute to women being abused. However, from the above testimonies, we find that the women who were abused were not necessarily financially dependent on their partners. Some of the women had full-time jobs. They still did not have much of a voice and very little decision-making power. Many women suffer violent attacks from their male partners. This essentially stemmed from community-and household-level of power dynamics, where gender roles are defined and enforced through social norms that regard men as having power over how a woman should behave and with whom she interacts.

Hammersly (2007:35) asserts that, according to the social constructionists, our gender identities can be influenced by the ethnicity of the group, their historical and cultural background, family values and religion.

The men who were interviewed bore testimony to this. The more entrenched these social norms are, the bigger the backlash is for women. Resistance leads to dislike from the community and relatives. Other studies have also found that the risk of violence is greatest in societies where the use of violence in many situations is a socially accepted norm (Jewkes, 2002).

5.2.1.2 Lack of Social Support

The female participants mentioned that there were not supportive social networks or support services available to the female participants in case they were abused.

In many instances, the men who inflicted violence on the women were aware of the minimal social support that the women had, which made the abusers less likely to curb their aggressive conduct.

Qhawe (female 30 individual interviews): I grew up here in ward 83. It is a place known for violence on the streets; people are robbed going to work. Girls are raped and no one is brave enough to address these community issues as they are afraid to face the gangsters in the area. So, when my husband who was also part of the gangsters started to abuse me and my children, we didn't have a place to hide and no one cares about us. He is no longer part of these gangsters as he runs his own tuck-shop, but he is always having that aura such that no one can approach him even his family. Every time he gets aggressive with us, we don't have support from the community and family.

Thuli (female 40): In my community when a wife does something wrong, her husband has the right to punish her; Many people think when a man beats a woman, it is normal behaviour to show that he loves her, especially if a man has paid lobola (bride price) for his wife. She becomes his property and is forced to have sex whenever he wants it.'

This study shows evidence that a lack of social support is one of the factors that contributed to gender-based violence in this community. There was a lack of social connectedness, social network ties, and supportive communities to foster resilience among the abused women. More of the women in this study said that people are afraid to become involved, and this causes a lack of support and sympathy for victims of gender-based violence. In many instances, women who are victims of abuse receive negative reactions from social services that may blame them for the abuse or be unsupportive. This posed a further disservice to women looking for help and allowed perpetrators to sustain abusive relationships.

The findings in this study are consistent with research that shows the lack of social support served to maintain traditional gender roles and justify male dominance over women, which caused prolonged abuse and negatively impacted the women, and the abused women's willingness to share their violent experiences and to seek social support (Yoshioka, Gilbert and El-Bassel, 2003).

The theory of social constructionism postulates that societal norms determine what acceptable gender behaviour is. Hadebe (2010) further states that society provides a string of prescriptions, templates, or models of behaviour for one sex or the other. Drawing from social constructionism theorists, we see how socio-cultural influences impact the reluctance of the members of this particular community to address issues of gender-based violence. Interventions should aim to provide stronger and more supportive social networks and increase women's utilisation of formal support services, as a lack of social support has direct links to gender-based violence (Sylaska and Edwards, 2014).

5.2.1.3 Socio-Economic Factors

The women in this study indicated that because of their inability to access independent sources of income they were at greater risk of becoming victims of violence. The lack of economic resources made the women vulnerable to violence.

Hlengiwe (female: 33- Individual Interview): After I met my second husband, I was relieved because he would buy groceries and give me some money if there was a shortage with school fees. We decided to live together in my family house. It was such great relief for me and I was happy. I got my first child with him things started to change. He became moody and sometimes beat me for small reasons. It became tense, I would not know what to do because if I report him who will support us financially? He is always reminding us he is the one in charge. We had to do as he says. The situation is bad, I really need help but I can't report him as we depend on his salary and I need my children to complete their education. I have to hide the scars from them and endure the abuse.

Thando 35 (female- Individual Interview): I'm not working and my boyfriend supports me financially. My friends blame me for not moving out of the relationship. It is really a difficult situation. I wish there were shelters for people like me. On month ends it depends on him if he does not feel like giving me money, he won't.

Numerous studies have identified possible triggers of gender-based violence, many of which are relevant across diverse cultural and social contexts. According to many respondents in this study, women were vulnerable to mistreatment if the economic resources they brought

were perceived as inadequate. The women mentioned that it was common for men to use their economic power to leverage violence and exploitation. This study found connections between violence and the socio-economic factors of women. Men often used violence to enforce their power and normalise societal gender roles, particularly in situations where women were not economically empowered. According to social constructionism, this mentality adopted by the men could, in all likelihood, be knowledge that was shaped by the interaction of the men within society (Katembo, 2015). The interviewed women were desperate (e.g., severely abused or neglected) and unable to survive and support their children because of inadequate incomes. Often, these women were at the mercy of their male partners, who used violence to release their frustrations. Some of the women mentioned that they were placed in difficult situations. In many situations, women were not allowed to work but, at the same time, were abused for requesting necessities like groceries and paying for children's education.

5.3 SUBSTANCE ABUSE

The women mentioned in the focus group and individual interviews that their partners often became abusive after consuming alcohol and/or taking drugs.

Thandi (female 35- Focus Group Interview): There are many spots selling liquor near our house. My husband, like most of the men, drinks heavily. The money decreases when he drinks. I cannot ask him about his drinking. When he is drunk, he gets angry with me and beats me if I ask anything. He always says that it is not him and that the drink does this to him.

Aphiwe (female: 29- Mixed Group Interview): My husband is normally good. But when he is drunk, he can't be tamed. He will use vulgar words with me in front of his friends if I object to his behaviour.

While the men that I interviewed admitted to indulging in violent behaviour after consuming alcohol, they also renounced responsibility by claiming that the alcohol altered their personalities.

Dumi (male): Mixed Group Interview: It has always been the case that men drink alcohol. It is a man thing. Sometimes men drink more than they should. This happens with friends and things. When a man is drunk, he can get angry quickly and does things that he will not do when sober. He can get violent even with his wife. It is not him when he is drunk.

Lunga (male): Mixed Group Interview: Yes, it is the drink that does this. It turns their heads. Otherwise, he is calm and good to his family. There are many taverns where we live.

The abuse of alcohol can be one of the reasons for GBV. This particular concern is from the evidence provided above. We see that alcohol consumption is harmful. Dangerous levels of alcohol consumption are a major contributor to partner violence and links between the two are many.

We see that in Dumi and Lunga's testimonies that the men use alcohol as an excuse for violent behaviour. Some of the men tried to absolve themselves of blame by mentioning that their violent behaviour was a consequence of the over-indulgence of alcohol and that it was not really their disposition but the stimulus of the alcohol.

Research has uncovered how alcohol fuels GBV and intimate partner violence, according to a collaborative review by the Southern African Alcohol Policy Alliance (SAAPA) and the South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC). The review shows a clear link between alcohol abuse and GBV across four sub-Saharan African countries. Men with alcoholism have a tripled risk of perpetrating gendered violence in the home.

However, Ramsoomar-Hariparsaad and Diedericks (2021) state women whose partners were regularly alcohol intoxicated were almost six times more likely to experience intimate partner violence or GBV.

Lunga reported that there were many taverns where they lived. The easy access to alcohol also encourages men to abuse alcohol, which in the cases above we see has violent consequences.

Ramsoomar-Hariparsaad and Diedericks (2021) state that the mapping of an urban site in South Africa showed more alcohol outlets than schools. The reviewers recommend that alcohol density and trading times should be considered in the awarding of licenses to reduce GBV risk.

Moreover, in South Africa, the belief that alcohol causes aggression has led to drinking so that individuals can carry out violence perceived to be socially expected. Alcoholism is strongly associated with severe violence towards intimate partners by violent men with antisocial personality disorders. The expectation that drinking alcohol will lead to aggressive behaviour which is increasing the risk of committing violence towards a partner (Ramsoomar-Hariparsaad and Diedericks, 2012).

5.4 CONSTRUCTIONS OF MASCULINITY

Masculinity is defined by physical strength, toughness, and the forbearing and authoritative presence of men (Leshilo, 2015). I found that in many cases, gender-based violence was centred on the arrangement of masculinities in this community and the efforts used by men to assert their power. Attempting to gain inclusion or hierarchical ascendancy led men to jostle for positions of power and this often led to gender-based violence. The competitive nature of hegemonic masculinity heightened the vulnerability of men. They responded to this vulnerability by forcibly and sometimes violently establishing their masculine credentials.

Thuli (female 40- Individual Interview) When I was still in school, I was walking back from school and a group of boys started to whistle at me. I just kept walking. One of the boys ran up to me and asked if he could walk with me. I said no. He said that his friends were watching and that I should not do this. I ignored him. He kept looking back at his friends, and then he suddenly grabbed me and pushed me to the floor. He started to swear at me. I heard him say to his friends that I was "isidwedwe sesifebe" (dirty women).

Thandi (female 39- Individual Interview) my husband always wants to make the rules. He must say when to do things and how. If we don't listen, he gets angry. Hlengiwe (female - 33) I know my husband has other girlfriends. Sometimes he comes home in the morning. I could not ask about the other women. He would get angry and say that he is a man. He has no respect for females. He thinks the more girls he has, and then he is a better man.

From the stories shared above, it is clear that the construction of masculinity has been contributing to gender-based violence. Hlengiwe states that she knows that her husband has romantic relationships with other women and gets angry when confronted. From Thuli's narrative, we see that having a status among friends triggered aggressive behaviour by the boy towards her. Peer approval is an indicator of masculinity. Being in charge is also an indicator of masculinity. Thandi's husband used violence or the threat of violence to ensure that he maintained power at home. In all of the cases, the males engaged in violence towards females to prove certain versions of masculinity. Hunter (2003) asserts that masculinity and societal norms socialise men to be aggressive, controlling and unemotional by being dominant, in many common cases, against women. This argument is also supported by scholars of social constructionism (Ratele, 2016; Zuma, 2018).

5.5 EFFECTS OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

GBV has severely impacted women and their families living in this section of Umlazi. It varied depending on the kind of violence they experienced. Although the effects are interconnected, I was able to classify the effects of the violence that the women endured into three broad categories: physical, psychological and mental health.

5.5.1 PHYSICAL

Some of the women had visible scars on their bodies that were obtained as a result of being abused by their partners. Other participants shared that they had been admitted to the hospital because of injuries as a result of being abused by their partners. I heard many painful stories in the group discussion. In the interest of the length and size of this thesis provide only the narratives of a few horrific stories below.

Zodwa (female - 40): Once my husband got drunk, he will take anything to beat me.

Onetime I had to lie at work because my forehead was cut open by the bottle. I got

stitches in the hospital. I was so ashamed to share this with anyone being afraid if I report him, he can lose his job.

Thuli (female - 38) I do not have children but I was pregnant once. One day I had a miscarriage because my husband pushed me and I fell. I tried to protect my stomach but when I went to the toilet, I found that I was bleeding. I went to the clinic and they confirmed that I had a miscarriage.

The above testimonies indicate that the physical effects of gender-based violence are horrendous. The women described acute and immediate physical injuries.

5.5.2 PSYCHOLOGICAL

The World Health Organisation (WHO, 2008) states that gender-based violence is about control where one party enforces their will upon the other. The psychological effects of this abuse include feelings of guilt and experiences of loss of self-worth and confidence. The women in this study also related anecdotes of how the abuse that they suffered affected them psychologically.

Thando (female - 35): So, I have this boyfriend and stay with him sometimes. I always try to please him because I have no one else. When he gets abusive and loud, I accept it. I'm always having anxiety, afraid he will chase me away. Sometimes I feel worthless in my relationship. That is why I am afraid to get married and have children.

Thuli (female 40): I always had nightmares about that night when I lost my baby. Although I stay with him, I can't trust him anymore. This makes me to always feel lonely and have feelings that no one will ever care for me. I'm always depressed and think of suicide sometimes.

Aphiwe (female 29): I have suffered a lot here in this place. I feel very sad and upset about this. Our area has no place where we can talk about our experiences and be healed. My life was shattered because of men. Sometimes I don't feel like living.

In this study, the victims of GBV mentioned that the abuse impacted their self-worth and selfesteem. They also experienced anxiety and uncertainty. In Thuli's case, the abuse compromised her ability to progress in her relationship. Thuli, like many of the other women, developed negative feelings about her and experienced a sense of loneliness and felt unwanted and undesirable. Some of the women even contemplated suicide. From the evidence provided by the women in this study, I found that in most cases, their ability to function personally in the family and in the community was severely impaired.

5.6 COMMUNITIES DEALING WITH GBV

This section investigates how the community deals with the problem of gender-based violence by first exploring the existence and the extent of structures that are in place to help and support victims of GBV within the community. I then look at measures adopted by the community to create awareness of GBV and eradicate the violent culture.

Many participants mentioned in their discussions that most people in this particular community "shy away" from the phenomenon of gender-based violence. There is reluctance and a sense of fear by members of the community to get involved in addressing the issue of gender-based violence. Most people experiencing gender-based violence first become scared and wonder about it, and then they become withdrawn, deciding not to share it with anyone. As a result, this problem grows until it is unbearable. If victims are encouraged to disclose the problem at an early stage, many can be assisted before it goes any further. This can be done through empowerment programmes which strengthen self-esteem and create a platform to talk about it, thus forming support groups within the community. It is very important that the extent of the problem is clarified to receive the necessary help.

Thandi (female - 39): In our community, there are no safe places where you can share your experiences. If you report your case to the police you have fear that your partner will lose his job and the community will reject you and your family not wanting to be witnesses. It is really difficult to get assistance as there are also no centres with psychologists and social workers to assist traumatised victims of sexual abuse, only the hospital that is miles away from the area has such programmes. We just have to handle this by ourselves. I wish the government can intervene in such a matter for us to find a better way of living.

Senzo (male 30) it is a very big challenge in our community not to have structures that will promote change and to have a better place where everyone is well taken care of.

The testimonies from both males and females revealed very clearly that no formal structures existed within this community to assist and support victims of gender-based violence. While the victims of GBV had access to the police, there was a general reluctance to report the abuse as the consequences for the perpetrator led the community to frown upon the person who reported the abuse. Further psychological support was completely non-existent, and access to medical support was difficult due to the hospital being situated too far away. The conclusion I drew from the participants I interviewed was that this community seriously lacks any form of facility that supports victims of gender-based violence. In addition, no efforts are being made to develop or create facilities that would support victims of GBV.

There were no campaigns in this community that addressed GBV. Almost all of the participants agreed that there should be advocacy and awareness campaigns that focus on the scourge of GBV. In addition, all of them were keen to offer ideas, approaches and forms that they felt would be effective in addressing gender-based violence.

Dumi (male 34) there are no awareness activities in our area. I think awareness campaigns can be done annually where men can participate and change their attitudes towards women.

Hlengiwe (female 33) I really enjoy [participating] in such a campaign. It opens my mind and touches so many people from youth to adults. By this, the kids will learn at an early stage and become better citizens in future. But there is nothing here. Noone wants to do anything about this issue.

Sazi (male - 27) Training can start from school by introducing gender-based violence.

People can attend workshops even at work.

Thuli (female - 38) most people do not like to be bothered in their homes. A residence is a very private place for a family. So, people don't like getting involved. We must try to change their minds about this.

While it was very clear that no campaigns existed that addressed gender-based violence, it was encouraging to note that all the participants were excited about possible interventions and offered their views on how to conduct the interventions. These suggestions by the participants served to inform some of the intervention programmes that I will discuss in the next chapter.

5.7 CONCLUSION

This chapter discussed and analyzed the findings of the research conducted among women and men residing in Ward 85of Umlazi. The main themes were formulated and highlighted using the narratives of the participants from the study sample. The effects of GBV on the victims were investigated and presented and the way in which the community dealt with GBV was discussed. It is very apparent that GBV is very rife in this community and the nature of the violence, in many cases, is horrific. The need to address the scourge of GBV in this community is crucial.

CHAPTER 6

PLANNING AND IMPLEMENTING THE ACTION

6.1INTRODUCTION

This chapter outlines the qualitative research methodology used in the study in an attempt to impact and reduce gender-based violence in Umlazi, Ward 83. The objective of this chapter is to present the participatory action research experience in order to formulate and implement a programme where the community will be responsible for providing solutions to GBV. Explanations of the process involved in the planning, implementation, evaluation and reflection on reducing gender-based violence in Umlazi, Ward 83 will be presented.

6.2.1 THE INTERVENTION CAMPAIGN PARTICIPANTS

Initially, the intervention campaign was going to consist of ten members. These participants were chosen from the first group that I conducted interviews with. The restrictions of the COVID-19 pandemic and the various stages of lockdown delayed the start of the intervention campaign and hampered progress in many instances. Two participants withdrew because of their anxieties around the pandemic. On the first day of our discussion, one of the remaining eight participants did not attend. The absence of one participant did not affect the progress of the discussion. Finally, seven members of my study participants formed the intervention committee.

One of the participants is working as a social worker in the ward councillor's office. She had assisted many families with domestic violence. Two female educators studied psychology as part of their Bachelor of Education degree. They are currently practising as councillors at their school. The remaining four participants belong to the original participant's group and were community members who were knowledgeable about this topic. I included two nurses from the local clinic and two members from the South African Police Services to the seven members initially identified from my original group of participants. All together there were eleven participants in the intervention campaign group. They were all willing to collaborate with me since they indicated their worries about gender violence in the area.

6.2.2 THE INTERVENTION CAMPAIGN

Ndlovu (2015) states that many intervention programmes focus on women and ignore the agency of men in reducing gender-based violence. "Tackling the root causes of violence requires not only changing the lives of the victims but requires an improvement in the lives of the people at the highest risk of being offenders" (Whitzman 2008:69). The intervention campaign meeting was held in the community hall as it falls under Umlazi, Ward 83. All of the members were very determined to work on this campaign after witnessing the intensity and the escalation of gender-based violence, especially during the pandemic.

The group was called the Cup Bearers Cry (CBC) campaign. The CBC met and discussed intervention strategies and goals for the campaign. The group felt that they would start with an awareness campaign for our envisaged projecting the area. In order to increase the awareness and seriousness of GBV in this community, the CBC decided to launch the campaign to the public. The launch was published in the local newspaper and aired on the local radio station and social media platforms. Guests from different sectors were invited to the launch to cast a wide net in an attempt to increase the seriousness and importance of the campaign. All COVID-19 protocols were observed.

The gender-based violence awareness day was launched successfully on 16 December 2020 at 11.00. In his keynote address the researcher outlined the aims of the launch and the programmes that would be implemented to address gender based violence. Stakeholders were introduced and they commended the initiative and agreed to assist during the entire process of intervention programmes.

6.2.3THE ACTION PLAN

The gender-based violence campaign was conducted over six weeks. The planning and implementation of the programme took place on weekday afternoons and weekends as participants were working. We planned times and tried not to interrupt the daily routines of individual homes. The campaign had the following format:

- 1. Focus group discussions on the causes and consequences of gender-based violence and current measures used to reduce violence in the area. These discussions were informed by findings and analysis from the previous chapter.
- 2. The discussion on the nature, causes and consequences of violence was the basis of creating the concept map that categorised the different types of gender-based violence.
- 3. Plan of action for the campaign.
- 4. Implementation of the campaign.
- 5. Evaluation of the campaign.

The following table represents the programme of events during the GBV Campaign from the dialogue, which assisted in gaining insight into the last stage of evaluating the outcomes.

Table 6. 1 Campaign Programme

Date	Event	Description
03 and 04 January 2022	Focus Group	A general discussion about members'
	Discussion	views of gender-based violence in the
		area. Participants told their stories about
		their experiences and observations of
		gender-based violence. This discussion
		included what occurred, who was involved
		and how they felt. These renditions added
		to my initial findings on the nature, causes
		and consequences of GBV in the area.
17 and 18 January 2022	Planning the action	Awareness of the Campaign
		Participants agreed to identify the hot
		Participants agreed to identify the hot
		spots to advertise the campaign aiming at
		reducing gender-based violence incidents

Date	Event	Description
		in ward 83; The team decided to hold a
		placard demonstration and distribute
		pamphlets to the community.
		Activities of the Campaign
		After intense discussions, the following
		activities were agreed upon:
		Community Play
		Taxi Cavalcade
		Soccer for Peace
20 February 2022	Evaluation of the	The success, strengths and weaknesses of
	campaign	the programme were evaluated.
27 February 2022	Reflection	The lesson learnt from the process

6.3 FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION

I started the discussion by allowing participants to ask questions about the campaign to provide issues of clarity and alleviate any anxieties that they may have had. We then established guidelines and protocols that we would follow throughout the entire campaign. We discussed what we wanted to achieve from the campaign and what we expected might happen during and at the end of the campaign, that is, the benefits and possible challenges and resistance. Most of the members in this community subscribed to patriarchal beliefs and

we knew at the outset that there would be resistance and not all members will readily accept the notions of change the campaign will promote.

With this in mind, we felt that it would be beneficial to spend some time discussing the nature and causes of GBV in this community and the gradual changes that we wanted to see. We also wanted to spread the message that although men have power over women in many vital institutions in each society, it does not mean that women do not have any autonomy or human rights, influence or resources, nor does it mean that all women have or portray the same power. We wanted to show that as patriarchal power becomes diluted in modern-day societies, more women are allowed access to certain rights and institutions. Although they may not be the most powerful people within those institutions, there is never an acceptance of gender-based violence.

The first aspect of the nature of gender-based violence that gained prominence in our discussion was domestic violence, which was raised due to COVID-19 lockdown regulations. As our discussion proceeded, it became clear that most men and some women regarded domestic violence as a private matter that needed to be managed within the family. The women in this community were expected to fulfil certain duties within the household and failure to do so often resulted in the beating of the woman by the spouse. This violence had serious implications for the entire family, including the children and other family members. One of the participants reported that her neighbour would shout at her partner and even start a fight for petty reasons. Some members indicated that sometimes the gender-based violence is so severe that it results in death. One participant reported that she knew of a woman who died after sustaining injuries from being beaten by her partner. Another member reported that a woman from the community committed suicide as a result of the incessant abuse from her partner.

The discussion expanded to the sexual coercion women experience regardless of their marital status and age. Therefore, the line between agreeing and refusing sexual advances is often unclear, which makes women more vulnerable to coerced sex. Participants mentioned that sex education in schools and counselling services related to sex and sexuality is a taboo topic. This resulted in low awareness of sexual rights and sexual health, which propagated GBV, including sexual coercion.

The third form of violence that participants highlighted was socio-economic violence. Typical forms of socio-economic control included taking away the woman's earnings, and not allowing her to have a separate income or make any financial decisions. In some homes, men forbade women from working, while in others; men abandoned their role of supporting the family and left it to the woman to bear the financial responsibility.

A lot was said about knowing the meaning of violence or the threat of violence as it is used to control women in specific contexts. The participants highlighted that many incidents of violence were reported to the police station where a man appeared to be controlling and jealous. This type of behaviour existed in both married and unmarried couples.

The discussion also identified the church as a role player in resolving issues of gender-based violence. It was mentioned that, in many cases, the churches in this area supported the men when issues of gender-based violence surfaced. Females are discriminated against in some churches and they suffer silently in their homes. The men believe that the church will support them as they contribute a lot to the daily functioning of the church. Brainstorming this kind of violence was challenging as other women voiced that it is not easy to deal with such abuse in this community.

6.4 PLANNING THE ACTION

First, we discussed how to raise awareness about the campaign in the community. Some participants suggested that a placard demonstration would be effective in creating awareness about our campaign to eradicate gender violence in the community. Others proposed that we choose a local radio station to air messages about our campaign to discourage gender-based violence and take out an advertisement in the local newspaper. Participants were keen to provide information and discuss various ways to create awareness. We then turned our discussion to the most cost-effective way to inform the community about our programmes to combat gender-based violence. After much deliberation, we agreed to make pamphlets and distribute these to the community and to hold a placard demonstration at the busy intersection that leads to a major shopping mall in the area.

The second part of our discussion focussed on the actual activities that we will engage in to discourage and combat gender-based violence. We met on the second day to chart a way

forward. During the brainstorming session, we wrote down all the ideas on a flip chart. We then filtered the ideas according to funding, practicality and time frames. We decided to focus on three activities that we thought would be the most effective.

- Community Play
- Taxi Cavalcade
- Soccer for Peace

6.4.1COMMUNITY PLAY

We decided that the play would be of one-hour duration. The play would involve an enactment of a scene where the father is abusive towards the mother and how this impacts the children. The sketch would also home in on the implications of the violent actions of the father on the mother as well as on the children. The play would have six actors: a mother, a father, two children and two members who play the neighbours. The social worker volunteered to play the mother and the two psychology students volunteered to play the children.

One of the community members in the team agreed to play the father and the other two community members were the neighbours. The fourth community member would write the script and direct the play.

6.4.2TAXI CAVALCADE

A large majority of the residents of Umlazi use taxis as a means of transport. We knew that a taxi cavalcade would be effective in highlighting the scourge of GBV in the community. Further to this the men in the area generally identify with those associated with the taxi industry. Messages of peace and non-violence coming from the taxi fraternity would have a profound impact on curbing gender-based violence. We planned to hold the taxi procession on the same day as the soccer for peace activity. On the day of the soccer for peace programme, the taxi cavalcade will lead local teams to the soccer field. The taxis would drive through the streets that lead to the soccer stadium. The taxis would be branded with slogans that denounce gender-based violence. The taxis would be fitted with speakers that would play anti-violence messages. A meeting with the local rank manager should be arranged, where

we will discuss how their taxis can contribute to our campaign. The advertisement will be aired on a popular radio station to bring awareness to the event. We were fortunate that one of our team members was working in the taxi industry. This made our planning easy and we agreed to display stickers and distribute pamphlets to onlookers. We concluded that pamphlets and stickers will be prepared for the day.

6.4.3 SOCCER FOR PEACE

The third initiative to address GBV in the community was to host a soccer tournament. This event will be called "Soccer for Peace". We will invite all members of the Umlazi Ward 84 community to come together and support our local soccer teams in hope of raising awareness of gender-based violence. We also felt that a soccer match would draw the attention of more men to our campaign. It is also important to have men at the forefront of this event to emphasise their role in protecting the community. We wanted to send a strong message about protecting women and children from abuse. We planned to have a special performance by the famous Ithemba gospel choir (males) during the half-time segment. This performance is to ensure that we attract a diverse crowd to the match. Prior to the event, we will design flyers as invites that will be placed around the area. Three members from the committee would hold a meeting with the soccer association of Umlazi, to which all soccer clubs are affiliated, to garner their support and assistance in hosting the event.

6.5 IMPLEMENTING THE ACTION

6.5.1 AWARENESS CAMPAIGN

We decided to spend four days on the awareness part of our campaign. We wanted the pamphlets to depict what we were going to do in our actions, but at the same time, we were wary of providing too much detail that would discourage people from reading and digesting the programmes. We agreed on using little pictures with small captions to depict our ideas. One of the members knew a person who worked at a local photo shop and who agreed to print 1000 copies of the pamphlet.

Our second day was used to construct our placards. We created posters that highlighted how, where and when we were going to roll out our intervention programme. The posters were colourful and large.

On the third day, we distributed the pamphlets to the community at shopping malls, petrol stations and recreational areas and on the fourth day, we held a placard demonstration at the intersection that we had agreed.

6.5.2 COMMUNITY PLAY

The community play was on Saturday in the big local church. We had enough space to put the chairs one metre apart to adhere to COVID-19 protocols. Members of the community attended in large numbers as we had used all sources to advertise the play. All participants wore white T-shirts and caps printed with messages to stop violence toward women. We observed all the COVID-19 protocols in the hall. Two participants welcomed people at the door and guided them to their seats. First, we explained the purpose of the play. Some of the male audience whistled and heckled at first but settled down to listen when the explanations began. The play lasted approximately one hour. It, however, did convey the message that violence in any form was wrong and there are always consequences to violent behaviour. The audience sighed and expressed tones of disgust and disagreement and sympathised with the characters as violent episodes against women were enacted in different scenes. The performances were great and people agreed by displays of loud clapping and cheering. The feedback received from the audience, indicated that they enjoyed the presentation and that it changed their perspective on gender based violence. After the play, we met with the participants to evaluate the play. We all agreed that it was successful and many people approached us to praise our work. Some expressed how they were afraid to attend because of things that have happened to them within their community but they now felt empowered. The presence of the ward councillor also served to give the people hope and support.

6.5.3TAXIS CAVALCADE

The taxi cavalcade was on the same day as the soccer for peace game. Five taxis took part in the drive. The taxis drove from the taxi rank to the stadium displaying flags and anti-violence messages. We had planned to have loud hailers on the taxis that would ring out messages of peace and non-violence. However, the drivers were not prepared to install this on their taxis. They however agreed for the banners to be put on the taxis. The teams that participated in the soccer extravaganza were the passengers in the taxis. They drew great interest from the

community members as the taxis drove through the streets. Loud cheering and singing accompanied the taxis as they entered the stadium.

6.5.4SOCCER FOR PEACE

The soccer for peace event began with the taxi cavalcade. When the players sang and blew their vuvuzelas as they boarded the taxis. At the entrance sanitising stations and mask check station were set up. It was of importance to keep to the COVID protocols. We had not planned for this but some of the community members set stands for sales of snacks, hot dogs and beverages. We had anti-violence banners displayed at these stands and some members of the team explained the banners and gave little talks to passers-by and patrons of the stalls about non-violence and its benefits. There was a sound system and a popular DJ played music while everyone was getting seated at the soccer stands.

Once everyone was seated, the master of ceremonies elaborated on the purpose of the day. He stressed the importance of combating gender-based violence in our community. The kick-off began at one o'clock. It was a 60-minute game with a 15-minute break at half-time. People were excited as the match began. We could not secure the services of the singer that we identified, but at half-time, a local gospel group volunteered to perform to increase the intensity and awareness of our messages of non-violence. At the end of the game, the participants thanked all who had participated in the game. The event ended with a celebration with the winners of the game. As an added event, an exhibition game was held for 15 minutes between the winning team and an all-women team. We also did not plan this, but this drew great excitement and underlined the role of women in all walks of life. It was a wonderful event and thoroughly enjoyed by the supporters, as they all stayed until the event was over and the vote of thanks was passed.

6.6 EVALUATION OF THE OUTCOMES

According to Boothroyd (2018), outcome evaluations (or impact evaluations) assess the programme's effectiveness in producing change. Outcome evaluations focus on the questions that ask what happened to programme participants and how much of a difference the programme made for them. Outcome evaluations are undertaken when one wants to assess

whether and how well the objectives of a programme were met. Generally, outcome evaluations attempt to answer the following questions:

- Is the programme making a difference?
- Did it work?
- Did the programme achieve what it anticipated to change?

A subjective-outcome evaluation was utilised in the short-term evaluation of the programme. Subjective evaluation provides detailed findings, which makes it easy for the researcher and participants to comprehend the outcomes of the programme (Zhang, 2020).

God billon-Camus, (2003) asserts that subjective outcome evaluations often employ both quantitative and qualitative data which tend to hinge on the experiences of the primary participants. In terms of the nature of this study, in order to evaluate the outcomes of the intervention programmes participants were invited to provide qualitative comments on their learning experiences of the GBV programmes. This involved the use of a focus group discussion. The participants were selected based on attendance at the community play and the soccer matches.

The focus group had 10 participants (five women and five men). The topic of the discussion followed a similar theme to the action process, which focused on content and participation. The participants were asked to provide comments on two questions:

- 1. To what extent did the programmes that you attended contribute to elevating your understanding and knowledge of gender stereotypes and gender-based violence?
- 2. What impact do you think this intervention would have on evaluating the issue of gender-based violence in this community?

It seems from the discussions that the programmes contributed significantly to alerting people to the seriousness of the GBV problem in their communities. The programmes made people aware of the problem and of the consequences of gender-based violence on the victims and the perpetrators. Furthermore, the programmes served to create discussions and debates about the problem of gender-based violence.

The findings from the focus group revealed that the workshop contributed to the enhancement of their understanding and knowledge of gender stereotypes and gender-based violence. I provide some of the focus group comments below.

With regards to the question: To what extent did the programmes that you attended contribute to enhancing your understanding of gender stereotypes and gender-based violence?

The information was simplified and presented in a fun way in the play. I liked the acting and humour (Female A).

I think the soccer match created a lot of awareness about gender-based violence. I also gained new knowledge on gender stereotypes; it became clear to me that a simple thing like raising your voice at a woman would be a potential cause of gender-based violence (Male B).

The play helped me to understand what gender-based violence means. It also showed me how gender-based violence affects the victim and the perpetrator, women are affected by this and also the men are affected (Female C).

The soccer matches highlighted the seriousness of gender-based violence in our community (Male C).

I would give this programme 10 out of 10. Thumbs up to improving their knowledge.

This process of addressing this problem has now started. We can only go forward from here (Male E).

In this community, many people believe that there are ways that men and women should act. Even to me, it was normal that men can do certain things. This whole programme made me realise that everyone is an individual and no one has power over another. It is this power that creates violence (Male E).

I picked up a lot of information about gender-based violence (Female D).

I gained a lot from the play. I was able to understand these things, gender stereotypes and gender-based violence because it was simple to follow unlike when you have to read it from a book (Female E).

With regards to question two: What impact do you think this intervention would have on addressing the problem of GBV in this community?

I think the community members learnt that respect is very important because if you respect someone then you would not mistreat that person (Female B).

People now understand that gender stereotypes are associated with gender-based violence (Male A).

Everyone has parole to play in reducing gender-based violence in our community. The men and women, father and mothers, children, taxi drivers, sportsmen and sportswomen (Male C).

I think that now people will learn that how you treat others affects violence. I also think that more women now know how to deal with violent behaviour (Female D).

People now realise that communication is very important in addressing this problem. If we are able to have good communication then there is no place for violence (Female E).

I think the entire program sent a clear message that gender-based violence is simply not acceptable in this or any other community (Male E).

The overall response was that the programmes were fun, yet at the same time informative. All the participants agreed that there should be more programmes like these and if we continue then it would serve to eradicate gender-based violence in this community.

6.7 REFLECTION

The willingness of participants and also the willingness of the authorities to co-operate are the main two determinants of action research. In my case, for example, participants and authorities wanted to participate, but the pandemic made it difficult to work within limited time frames as the lockdowns interrupted and hampered our plans and strategies.

The lockdown created challenges in my implementation of action research and delayed the process. I had to, in many instances, reschedule planning meetings and alter the dates of the implementation of the action. Many people were also anxious and apprehensive about attending the planned activities. The data collection, planning and implementation also required careful attention to the COVID-19 protocols. Many participants had tested positive and had lost loved ones to the pandemic during the time of this participatory action research project.

I empathised with and encouraged the participants and formulated new approaches as the various challenges were surmounted. I used various technologies to always keep in touch with participants throughout the campaign. We talked on Whatsapp groups and used Twitter and Face book to interact and communicate when face-to-face meetings were not possible. There were times during the action process when I felt overwhelmed and had high anxieties about the success of the project, especially as the positive cases of the virus began to spike. I did, however, persevere and in spite of the many challenges, the project did achieve the expected outcomes.

My experience with the participants throughout the process revealed that people are aware of GBV but due to gender stereotypes and cultural pressures, many people either turn a blind eye or accept gender discrimination to a large extent. I realised that gender-based violence in this community escalated, especially during the onslaught of the pandemic and it was critical to address the violence in some manner. The programmes should be implemented on an ongoing basis in order to inhibit escalation and eradicate the scourge of violence in this community. Salomon (2013) asserts that short-term interventions usually yield only short-term effects and that a researcher should never be satisfied with measures taken only in a short period.

The participants had many positive ideas after the completion of the campaign and the campaign received positive appraisals from other sectors as well. It was humbling to collaborate with leaders of the community and to receive such positive feedback.

6.8 CONCLUSION

This chapter outlined the planning and implementation of the intervention campaign to meet the objectives stipulated at the beginning of the research, which is to reduce gender-based violence in the Umlazi, Ward 83 community. The focus was on the exploratory part of participatory action research which examined the prevalence and the number of factors associated with gender-based violence in the community. This chapter presented the participatory action research intervention programme campaign, which were the planning, implementation, evaluation and reflection of the campaign.

CHAPTER 7

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

7.1 INTRODUCTION

This study focused on examining the experiences, perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs in a sample of men and women living in a South African township in Umlazi, KZN regarding gender-based violence. The study identified sources of the attitudes and beliefs expressed by the chosen sample of community members in Umlazi and using participatory action research planned and implemented a programme of action aimed at preventing and reducing the pervasiveness of gender-based violence within the township community, through behaviour and attitude change.

The following were the objectives of the study:

- Investigating the extent of cultural dynamics on GBV.
- Exploring the constructions of masculinity and GBV.
- Examining the nature, causes and effects of GBV in the Umlazi district.
- Using participatory action research and restorative justice plan and implement a programme of action aimed at preventing and reducing the prevalence of GBV in the township.
- Analysing the effectiveness of intervention programmes to combat GBV.

7. 2 SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH PROCESS

The first chapter explored the background, context and rationale of the study. It presented the objectives, significance and problem statement of the study. The methodology that underpinned the research study was also discussed. This chapter introduced the intervention programme that was to be used to combat or reduce gender-based violence in the area.

Chapter two focused on the theoretical and conceptual framework of the GBV study.

This theory explicitly guided the study on the belief that behaviour is related to social and interpersonal influences. A discussion of gender and social constructionism, social constructionism in South Africa, social constructionism and GBVwas presented in this chapter.

In chapter three, I reviewed relevant literature and empirical studies on the nature, causes, prevalence and consequences of GBV. I looked at the relevant literature on the following topics: cultural dynamics of GBV; causes of GBV; the nature of GBV; the construction of masculinity; and intervention programmes to combat gender-based violence.

In chapter four, an analysis of the qualitative research design and methodology implemented to conduct this study was given and it outlined how data was collected and analysed. This included details of sampling procedures, data collection and analysis methods, research equipment, ethical considerations, and reliability and validity of the information.

Chapter five analysed and interpreted the data acquired from the semi-structured interviews and focus groups using thematic analysis. Six topics were presented and defined. The nature of GBV, which includes intimate partner violence, sexual violation and physical abuse, was discussed. The causes of gender-based violence, which included social norms that brought about low levels of women empowerment, the lack of social support, socio-economic factors and substance abuse showed that violence was severe in the area. The construction of masculinity also had an impact on gender-based violence. The effects of and how to deal with gender-based violence were discussed.

Chapter six presented a detailed plan and implementation of the intervention process aimed at reducing GBV in the research context. I then provided the evaluation and reflection of the outcomes.

Chapter seven focused on the conclusions reached from the findings emerging from the participants' responses. It offers practical recommendations based on interpreting the case studies.

7.2 MAIN CONCLUSIONS OF THE STUDY

Conclusions drawn from this study were addressed in response to the participant's experiences shared during focus group discussions. The research objectives and questions outlined in chapter one was defined explicitly. The findings of this study are outlined below.

7.2.1 FINDINGS

Nature of Gender-Based Violence

GBV was categorised into three major themes.

Intimate Partner Violence

The focus group discussions revealed very little about the issues of intimate partner violence. My discussions with the men revealed information about male entitlement and the attempts to maintain their fragile constructions of masculinity around issues of intimate partner violence. However, the females provided detailed and graphic experiences of intimate partner violence during individual interviews. They spoke of physical pain and emotional harm. The women mentioned feelings of hopelessness and worthlessness and some even considered suicide to escape the abuse.

Sexual violence

Sexual violence was found to be very common in this community. All of the women that were interviewed indicated that they were aware of sexual violence or provided a first-hand account of their abuse. The women felt unsafe living in this community and often ran into their assailants but had little choice but to continue to reside in this area. The men, however, did not seem to realise the magnitude of this problem. This problem is heightened by destructive and toxic cultural stereotypes that suggest men are viewed as sexually dominant and women as submissive. Further, women who had been subjected to any form of sexual violence were at risk of being labelled as loose women or, in some contexts, as wanting it and then complaining.

Physical abuse

In terms of physical abuse in this community, both the male and female participants mentioned that physical abuse was rife. The women, especially in both individual and focus group interviews, were very vocal about their experiences of physical abuse. Their stories had overwhelming feelings of distress and fear. The physical abuse that the victims experienced severely affected their emotions, thinking and sense of self. All of the victims felt powerless and trapped. They justified physical abuse by using the excuse that they acted aggressively out of anger, which exonerated their behaviour as men. They saw their violent actions merely as outbursts, tirades and expressions of anger; they did not see the consequences of their violence. Men regarded the physical abuse of women as out-of-control anger and a byproduct of being a man.

Causes of Gender-based violence

This section investigated what caused GBV in Umlazi Township, Ward 83. Participants mentioned a number of reasons why they thought men were abusive and violent towards women. Scholars of gender and violence argue that a single factor does not cause violence, but rather an array of factors raises the likelihood that a man, may act violently towards a woman in a particular setting. From the testimonies and stories of women who suffered abuse, I identified several causes. I was able to classify the causes into three broad categories: social norms, substance abuse and construction of masculinity.

Social norms

Social norms were classified into low levels of women empowerment, a lack of social support and socio-economy inequality.

Low Levels of Empowerment

The study found that women did not experience the same socio-economic rights, opportunities and decision-making powers as men do.

Most of the women did not have the autonomy and agency to make decisions regardless of existing power struggles, which affected gender equality and consequently, attitudes toward violence. Essentially, this stemmed from the community and household level power dynamics where gender roles are defined and enforced through social norms that regard men as having power over how a woman should behave and the power that she should possess. Many of the men who were interviewed agreed that the low level of women's empowerment was one of the factors that influenced how women were treated. The social norms socialize males to be aggressive, controlling and unemotional. This contributed to a social acceptance of the dominance of men. Similarly, when women are expected to be passive, submissive, nurturing and emotional, it reinforces women's roles as weak, powerless, and dependent upon men. The socialization of both men and women has resulted in an unequal power relationship. This unequal power relationship is often a catalyst for GBV.

Lack of social support

Both the men and women mentioned in the interviews that there was no social support of any form for abused women in this community. Most people maintained that this was a private matter and there was very little social connectedness. Social networks for women who were abused were absent and most of the members of the community were not supportive. The women were not aware of any formal support services within the community that existed for them in the event that they needed help as victims of GBV. The women interviewed in this study mentioned that the lack of social support and the absence of anyone to help them allow men to dominate them, which often involve the use of force and violence.

Socio-economic factors

The women mentioned that the men used the women's economic vulnerability to exploit them often in violent ways. This relationship of economic dependency offered the men leeway to be abusive in their relationships since the men felt a sense of entitlement and held the view that there was little that the women could do about it. This study found connections between violence and socio-economic factors of women. Often these women were at the mercy of their male partners who at times released their frustrations by using violence against their female partners.

Substance abuse

The women mentioned in the focus group and individual interviews that their partners often became abusive after consuming alcohol and/or taking drugs. In many cases, the men were easily triggered into the use of violence when they were under the influence of alcohol or drugs. The men usedpalliatives like alcohol for their violent behaviour towards women. When men partake in heavy drinking, it often leads to violence against their partners and families. Some of the men indicated that alcohol was a stimulus that triggered their violent behaviour towards their partners. While opinions may vary among researchers, this study has found that alcohol can drive GBV and illustrates the clear link between alcohol abuse and GBV.

Construction of Masculinity

The cause of violence towards women is due to the unequal societal power relations between women and men, which ensure male dominance over women, which are common behavioral characteristics in society. There was strong evidence in this study to suggest that the men in this particular community used violence to prove celebrated forms of masculinity. From the testimonies, men subscribed to certain versions of masculinity such as gaining peer approval and status among friends, maintaining power at home and having multiple partners. These indicators of masculinity underlined the use of violence, intimidation and aggression against their female partners.

Effects of gender-based violence

Studies of gender-based violence reveal numerous consequences and effects of gender-based violence. Many of these studies are longitudinal and provide evidence of chronic health problems, syndromes, sexual and reproductive health problems, substance abuse, loss of income and engaging in high-risk behaviours and practices. I was unable to go beyond the direct and short-term consequences of GBV in this short-term study.

I was, however, able to conclude that GBV in this community manifested in various forms, which all adversely affected the victims. I classified the effects into two broad categories: physical and psychological.

The women who reported experiences of physical violence also reported being injured as a result. The women described and disclosed acute and immediate physical injuries, which were so severe that, in some cases, they had to be hospitalised. The women in this study also related anecdotes of how the abuse that they suffered affected them psychologically. The women mentioned feelings of depression andanxiety and suicidal thoughts. The abuse also impacted their self-worth and self-esteem. The women experienced feelings of doubt and insecurity, which resulted in victims feeling unsafe and distrusting other members of their community.

Dealing with gender-based violence

There was reluctance and a sense of fear by members of the community to get involved in addressing or handling issues of gender-based violence. My interviews revealed that no formal structures existed within this community to assist and support victims of gender-based violence. There were no health care facilities available, and in order to access the hospital, the victims had to travel long distances. Victim assistance services to respond to gender-based violence were non-existent. There were no support groups for victims to organize and take control of their own situation. The pandemic of violence against women is not new, but yet in this particular community, there is a lack of response services and prevention initiatives to support and help survivors of GBV.

It is important for society and communities to work together to find ways to address GBV and to build the agency of women to empower them to address the issues that impact their daily lives. This study proposes the following recommendations.

7.3 RECOMMENDATION

The researcher proposes the following solutions: the creation of GBV campaigns in local communities so that this scourge can be addressed with greater vigour; and the government and NGOs should create centres that will assist abused women and men. The programmes should be made reachable to all the abused, and through these campaigns, everyone will become aware and take decisions that will be beneficial to their families.

- Introducing gender-based violence as a subject from primary schools to tertiary level
 will assist in fighting the escalating number of victims being abused.
- Collaborating with the community and the police to intervene and discourage GBV.
- To raise boys to understand the importance of healthy relationships and to break free
 from harmful stereotypes. Parents, educators, coaches and policymakers have a role
 to play in challenging the beliefs that boys' and men's violence is normal.
- Create platforms that listen to women's stories and acknowledge their experiences and then inform other men.

7.4 LIMITATIONS

The scope of participants included ten members only from Umlazi, Ward 83 situated in KwaZulu-Natal province where the incidences of GBV are high.

Umlazi is the biggest township in KZN but unfortunately, research cannot cover all residents in Umlazi. This research focussed only on Umlazi, Ward 83.

7.5 CONCLUSION

The last chapter in this study provided a summary of the research process and conclusions drawn from the study.

The main focus of this study was to investigate the experiences, perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs of a small sample of men and women living in the South African township of Umlazi, Ward 83.

Even though the sample was small, this research study succeeded in gaining in-depth insights into the GBV experiences and views of both victims and perpetrators living in Ward 83. This, in turn, informed my intervention campaign which is hoped will pave the way for larger response and prevention initiatives.

REFERENCES

Abrahams, N., Mathews, S., Martin, L.J., Lombard, C. and Jewkes, R., 2013. Intimate partner femicide in South Africa in 1999 and 2009. PLoS Med, 10(4), p.e1001412

Alem, B. S., 2015. Working with men and boys to end violence against women and girls. United States. Agency for International Development.

Amien, W., 2006. 'Overcoming the conflict between the Right to Freedom of Religion and Women's Rights to Equality: *South African Case Study of Muslim Marriages' Human Rights Quarterly* 28(3): 729 -754.

Annual crime report (online). 2019. Available: http://www.saps.gov.za/ services/ annual crime report 2019. (Accessed 15 September 2019)

Ansel, N., 2001. 'Because our culture (Re) negotiating the meaning of Lobola in Southern African Secondary Schools. Journal of South African studies. 27(4); 697-716.

Aronson, E., Wilson, T.D. and Akert. M., 2011. Social Psychology (7th Ed). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall/Pearson

Austin, D.W., 2016. "Hyper-masculinities in disaster: the reconstruction of hegemonic masculinity in the wake of calamity" in Enarson, E., and Pease, B., (2016) *Men, Masculinities and Disasters*. Routledge: Oxon.

Barr, S., 2019. What is toxic masculinity and how it can be addressed? The Independent.9 March: 12.

Berger, P. and Luckman, T., 1991. The social construction of reality. London. Penguin Books.

Bloom, S. S., 2008. Violence against Women and Girls: A Compendium of monitoring and Evaluation Indicators. USAID. East African Regional Mission.

Boonzaier, F., 2004. Women abuse: exploring women's narratives of violence and resistance in Mitchell's plain. University of Cape Town.

Boss, J., 2008. Analysing moral issues (4th Ed). New York. NY. McGraw-Hill

Bower, C., 2003. The relationship between child abuse and poverty Agenda: Vol. 56, 84-85.

Bradshaw, S., 2013. *Gender Development and Disasters*. Edward Elgar Publishing: Massachusetts.

Brown, J.D. and Clerk, S., 2015. *Exploring new approaches to the organisation of knowledge*. Illinois. University of Illinois.

Berger, P. and Luckman, T., 1991. The social construction of reality. London. Penguin Books.

Boothroyd, R.A., 2018. Process and outcome evaluation approaches. Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, University of South Florida

Burr, V., 2003. *Social Constructionism* (2nd Ed). London: Routledge.

Carrillo, R., Connor, N. and Fried, S., 2003. *Not a Minute More: Ending Violence against Women.* New York: Swift Print of NJ Inc.

Chirwa, M. L., 2002. *Gender issues in management promotion in the health services*. University of South Africa

Cohen, L., Manion, L. and Morrison, K.2018. *Research Methods in Education*. New York: Routledge.

Cojocaru, S.2013. Appreciative Inquiry in Social Work, Lambert Academic Publishing

Connell, R.1998. *Gender and power; society, the person and sexual politics.* Pola Alta, California: University of California Press.

Connell, R. W. 1987. Gender and Power. Stanford: Stanford University Press

Connell, R.W. 2005. Masculinities, University of California Press. Berkely, CA.

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 | South African Government. [Online] Available at: https://www.gov.za/documents/constitution-republic-south-africa-1996 [Accessed 19 Sep. 2022].

Creswell, J. W. 2013. Research design: *Qualitative Quantitative and mixed methods* Approaches (4thed.).London: Sage Publication.

Cui, M., Ueno, K., Gordon, M. and Fincham, F.D. 2013. The continuation of intimate Partner Violence From Adolescence to Young Adulthood. Journal of Marriage and Family, [online] 75(2) pp.300-313. Doi:10.1111/jomf.12016.

Dawood, Z. 2019. Crime stats: Robberies increase in Umlazi. Daily News.12 August: 1

Decker, M.R., Latimore, A.D., Yasutake, S., Haviland, M., Ahmed, S., Blum, R.W., Sonenstein, F. and Astone, N.M., 2015. Gender-based violence against adolescent and young adult women in low-and middle-income countries. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *56*(2): 188-196.

<u>DeKeseredy, W.S.</u> 2019, "Innovative Methods of Gathering Survey Data on Violence Against Women", <u>Deflem, M.</u> and <u>Silva, D.M.D.</u> (Ed.) *Methods of Criminology and Criminal Justice Research* (*Sociology of Crime, Law and Deviance, Vol. 24*), Emerald Publishing Limited, Bingley, pp. 69-84. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1521-613620190000024008

Dhirania, M. K. and Chawla, K. 2019. Workplace Management and Sexual Harassment. *International Journal of Research in Engineering, IT and Social Science*. 9 (3)

Durber, S. 2012. *A study on gender-based violence in selected rural district of Nepal*. Office of Prime minister and Council of ministers. Nepal.

Dzinavane, T. M.2016. Saying no to GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE: A study of Musasa, a non-governmental organisation based in Zimbabwe. University of South Africa.

Elliot, K.O. 2016. "Queering student perspectives: *gender, sexuality and activism in school,*" Vol.16. No. 1 pp49-62.

Elliot, K. O. 2018. Challenging toxic masculinity in schools and society ON THE HORIZON Vol. 26.No.1, pp17 -22.

Enarson, E. and Pease, B. 2016. Men Masculinities and disasters. Routledge: Oxon.

Franklin, B. 2003. The faith factors in fatherhood, renewing the sacred vocation of the fathering, Don Eberly (Ed).

Gergen, K.J. and Davis, K.E. ed. 2012. *The social construction of the person*. New York: Springer-Verlag.

Gergen, K. J. 1999. An invitation to social construction. London. Sage.

Giddings, L.S.2012.Mixed-methods research; positivism dressed in drag? *Journal of research in nursing*, 11(3): 32-52.

Global Public Health. (2020). Risk factors for alcohol and drug misuse amongst young women in informal settlements in Durban, South Africa. [Online] Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17441692.2020.1775866 [Accessed 16 Aug. 2022].

Godbillon-Camus, B. 2003. Subjective evaluation, ambiguity and relational contracts.[online] Working Papers of Large Research Centre. Available at:

https://ideas.repec.org/p/wpaper/2003-03.html [Accessed 19 Sep. 2022].

Gracia, E.2004. Unreported cases of domestic violence against women: *towards an epidemiology of social silence, tolerance and inhibition*. Journal of Epidemiology of Community Health, 2004, 58, 536-537: doi10.1136/ jech.2003.014.

Hadebe, L.2016. *Zulu Masculinity; Culture, Faith and the constitution in the South African context.* A dissertation submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Masters of Theology. Pietermaritzburg: University of KwaZulu-Natal.

Hammersly, M. 1992. What's Wrong with Ethnography? Routledge, London.

Hammersly, M.2013. What is Qualitative Research? London: Bloomsbury Academic.

Heise, L., Ellesberg, M and Gottmeller, M., 2002. A global overview of gender-based violence, *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics*, 78(I): 514-555.

Heise, L.1998. Violence against women: an intergraded, ecological, framework. *Violence against women*, 4 (3), pp262-290.

Huslin, F. 2006. Factors affecting student academic performance. Australia. University of Newcastle.

Jefferson, R.N., 2014. Action research: theory and applications. *New Review of Academic Librarianship*, 20(2), pp.91-116.

Jenny, M.2018. *Preventing Gender-based violence Post-disaster*. Philippine. Uppsala University.

Jewkes, R., 2002. Intimate partner violence: causes and prevention. *The Lancet* 359 (9315): 1423-9 DOI: 10. 16/SO140-6736(02)08357-5.source.PubMed

Johnson, P. A., Widnall, S. E. and Benya, F. eds. 2018. *Sexual Harassment of Women; Climate, Culture, And Consequences in Academic Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine*. Washington: The National Academies Press.

Joyner, K. and Mash, R., 2012. Recognizing intimate partner violence in primary care: Western Cape, South Africa. *PloS one*, 7(1), p.e29540.

Kambarani, M., 2006. Femininity, Sexuality and Culture: *Patriarchy and female subordination in Zimbabwe*. University of Fort Hare. South Africa.

Katembo, A.2015. *Reducing cases of Gender-based violence in Mashonaland Central Province; Zimbabwe.* Masters in Management Sciences (Peace building). Durban: University of Technology.

Kemmis, S., 2006. Participatory action research and the public sphere. *Educational action research*, 14(4), pp.459-476.

Kilpatrick, D.G., 2004. What is violence against women: Defining and measuring the problem. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *19*(11), pp.1209-1234.

Kim, A. 2007. *Moving beyond gender as usual*. Washington DC. Centre for global development.

KwaZulu-Natal Gambling Board. 2019. KZNGBB Saturation Study 'Durban: KZN Gambling Board.

Langa, M. L. 2012. *Some gendered practices in a Zulu family*. A feminist perspective. A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts. School of IsiZulu. Durban: University of KwaZulu-Natal.

Lee, R. 1993. Doing research on sensitive topics. London: Sage.

Leedy, D. and Ormrod, J. E. 2016. *Practical Research. Planning and Design:* 11th edition. New York: Macmillan.

Loudsin and Vetten, L.2005. Addressing domestic violence in South Africa: Reflection on strategy and practice. South Africa. Centre for the study of violence and Reconciliation.

Machisa, M., Jewkes, R., Mornac and Rama, K.2011. *The war at home; Gender-based violence indicators Project. Gauteng Research Report.* Johannesburg: Gender links and South Medical Research Council.

Magwaza, T. 2001. Private transgressions: The visual voice of Zulu women. Agenda, 49, 2532

Mahmud, S. 2015. *Is religion a source of violence or a source of peace?* Discuss this question referring to different theoretical positions and substantiate your arguments with case studies. University of Dublin.

Makongoza, M. F. B. 2010. *Intimate Partner Violence*. A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters in Psychology. University of Johannesburg.

Maphanga S. 2018. Rise against gender-based violence. METRO ezasegagasini. 01 August: 1-2.

Marshall, T.F.1998. Restorative Justice. An overview. Minneapolis: Cent.

Mataba, R. B.2016. The relationship between awareness of Gender violence against women prevention campaigns and gender attitudes and talking about violence among women in Gauteng. Master of Public Health. University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.

Mcilwane, C. 2013. *Urbanization and gender-based violence; exploring the paradoxes in global south.* London: Routledge.

Meyiwa, L. 2017. *Gender-based violence: Alarming numbers of cases reported of Domestic violence in South Africa*. The Independent. 17 August: 2-3.

Mittal, S and Singh, T. 2020. Gender-based violence during COVID-pandemic: Amini-review. *Frontiers in global women's health*.p.4.doi:10.3389/fgwh.2020.00004.

Moffet, H. 2006. These women, they force us to rape them. Rape as Narrative of social controlling Post-Apartheid South African studies. 2006:32 (1), 129 - 144

Moolman. 2006. Gender and Media, Gender links. South Africa.

Mpani, P. and Nsibande, N. 2015 .*Understanding Gender Policy and Gender-based violence in South Africa*. Soul City Institute of health and development communication.

Ms AadielahMaker- Diedericks, Southern African Alcohol Policy Alliance (SAAPA). Alcohol availability and gender-based violence (GBV) in Southern Africa: an evidence review

Msomi, J.B.2011. Gender-based violence; the effect of Gender-based violence on men in Clermont Township. South Africa. Durban: University of KwaZulu-Natal.

Myende T.M. 2017. Female student's understandings of intimate partner violence in UKZN residence. Durban. University of KwaZulu Natal

Naidoo, N.2017.Gender-based violence: *Strengthening the role and scope of Prehospital Emergency Care by promoting theory, policy and clinical praxis.* Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of PhD Forensic Medicine. University of Cape Town.

Nanda, S. 2014. Gender diversity: Cross-cultural Variations. 2nd ed. United States of America: Waveland Pr.

Ndlovu, S.2008. *Analysis of gender-based violence sourcing patterns representation of victims in Soweto.* Master of art in Media studies. University of Witwatersrand.

Ngcobo, A.N. 1999. *Women in educational management*: Why women are underrepresented in the educational management positions in South Africa: A survey study of educational managers in the Kokstad region. A thesis submitted for the degree of Master of Education. Durban: University of Durban-Westville

Ngubane, J. S. 2010. *Gendered Roles in the African Culture; Implications for the spread of HIV/AIDS.* Master of Philosophy. University of Stellenbosch.

Niala, J. C. 2011. African Parenting: *the sane way to raise children*. Www. in culture parent. Com/2011/&5/African.

Nkani, F. N.2006. Factors that explain gender-based violence [sic] amongst Secondary School learners in the Inanda area. Durban. (Doctoral dissertation).

Nkomo, S.N.2014. A critical analysis of Zimbabwe's legal response to traditional cultural practices and gender-based violence. Mini thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Law. University of Western Cape.

Nombuso, S. 2005. *Township in the identity politics in South Africa (1990-1994)*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Ntsimane. R. 2006. The Ukuhlonipha Code of Respect: gender and cultural tensions around the Zulu nurses, the case of the Emmaus Mission Hospital. South Africa. Unisa. ac. za. [Online] doe: 10170499.

Okolo, W.C. 2018: *Gender-based violence in Nigeria*: a study of Markurdi metropolis in Benue estate: Nigeria.

Paquette, G., Martin-Storey, A., Bergeron, M., Dion, J., Daigneault, I., Herbert, M., Ricci, S. and Castonguay-Khounsombath, S. 2019. Trauma Symptoms Resulting from Sexual Violence among Undergraduate Students: Difference across gender and sexual minority status. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 1-26

Pennington, J.2014. Global vectors for word representation. California. Stanford University

Pickup, F., Williams, 2001. S., Sweetman, C. Ending Violence against Women: *A Challenge for Development and Humanitarian Work*. Oxfam GB.

Posadas, J. 2017. Teaching the cause of rape culture: *toxic masculinity, Journal of feminist studies in religion*. 33(1), pp177-179.

Rakoczy, S. 2004. In Her Name: Women Doing Theology. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publication.

Ramsoomar, L., Gibbs, A., Chirwa, E.D., Dunkle, K. and Jewkes, R. 2021. Pooled analysis of association between alcohol use and violence against women: evidence from four violence prevention studies in Africa. BMJ Open, 11(7), p.eo49282*online*] *Available at: http* Ramsoomar. L-Hariparsaad, South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC

Raper, P. 2013. *New Dictionary of South Africa Place Names*. Tourism. KwaZulu Natal, Umlazi Township. p384. https://www.zulu.org.za. (Accessed; 05 April 2013).

Redpath, J. Morrelli. Jewkes, R. and Peacock D.2008. *Changing masculinity and working towards gender equality*. Johannesburg. Sonke Gender Justice Network.

Renzetti, C.M.2009. The national online Resource on violence against women. Harrisburg. National Resource Centre on Domestic Violence (NRCDV).

Ricardo, C., Eads, M., Barker, G. 2011. *Engaging boys and young men in the prevention of sexual violence*. Available: http://www.svri.org/menandboys.pdf. (Accessed 19 December 2014).

Farfán, C.R., Hsu, Y.C., Pavez, F. and Dugarova, E. 2020. *Gender inequality and the COVID-19 crisis: A Human Development perspective*. Collaboration from the Human Development Report Office and the Gender Team.

Saltzman L. 2004. Issues related to defining and measuring violence against women. Journal of interpersonal violence. London. 001:1037/e721007-001.

Saltzman, Linda E.; Fanslow, Janet L.; McMahon, Pamela M.; Shelley, Gene A. 1999. Intimate partner violence surveillance: uniform definitions and recommended data elements. National Centre for Injury Prevention and Control (U.S.). Division of Violence Prevention. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/7537

Schroeder, W. Grumman, J. A. and Couts, L. M.2005. *Understanding and addressing social and Practical Problems*. California: Thousand Oaks

Shabalala, M. M. 2012. An investigation of the causes of gender-based violence in the Kwa-Nongoma area. Masters of Arts. University of Zululand.

Shai, J.2013. Gender-based violence and the need for evidence-based primary prevention in South Africa. *African Safety Promotion Journal*, 11(2) 20 -30.

Sida. 2015. Preventing and Responding to Gender-Based Violence: Expressions and Strategies. Valhallavägen: Sida

Simonovic, D. 2020. Violence Against Women, its Causes and Consequences Regarding COVID-19 and the Increase of Domestic Violence Against Women. Submission to the UN special rapporteur. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/07/03/submission-unspecial-rapporteur-violence-against-women-itscausesand-consequences (Accessed 1 October 2020).

Skidmore, W.C. and Bell, M.E.2020. Providing Medical Care to Survivors of Sexual Assault and Harassment in the Military. Sexual and Gender-Based Violence: 85-112. Available: https://www.researchqate.net/publication/340227209 Providing Medical Care to Survivo rs of Sexual Assault and Harassment in the Military (Accessed 17 November 2021).

Skoog, T., Gattario, K. H. and Lunde, C. 2019. Study protocol for PRISE: a longitudinal study of sexual harassment during the transition from childhood to adolescence. *SpringerLink*, 7 (71): 1-31

Skweyiya, Y. 2013. Gender-based violence and the need for evidence-based primary prevention in South Africa. *African Safety Promotion Journal*, 11 (2): 14-17.

South Africa, Department of Justice. 2003. *Domestic Violence Act 116 of 1998*. Pretoria. Department of Justice. Available: https://www.justice.gov.za/legislation/acts/1998-116.pdf (Accessed 20 January 2021).

South Africa, Department of Justice.2003. *Promotion of Equality and Prevention of Unfair Discrimination Act 4 of 2000*. Pretoria: Department of Justice. Available: https://www.gov.za/documents/promotion-equality-and-prevention-unfair-discrimination-act (Accessed 16 April 2020).

South Africa, Department of Justice and Correctional Services. 2011. *Protection from Harassment Act 17 of 2011*. 558. South Africa: Justice Department. Available: www.justice.gov.za (Accessed 17 April 2019).

South Africa, Department of Justice. 2007. *Criminal law (sexual offences and related matters)*Amendment Act 32 of 2007. Pretoria. Department of Justice. Available: https://www.justice.gov.za/legislation/acts/2007-032.pdf (Accessed 18 December 2021).

Subramanian, R.2005. Gender Equality in Education: *Definitions and measurement*. Internal Journal of Education Department p395-407

Sukhu, R.L.M. 2013.Masculinity and men's violence against known women in Trinidad whose responsibility? Men and Masculinity (online) 16 (1):71 -92. Available at http://jmm.sagepub.com/content/early/2012/12/20/109777184x1248602(accessedhttp://jmm.sagepub.com/content/early/2012/12/20/109777184x1248602.Accessed 28May.

Stark, E. 2007. Coercive Control: *How Men Entrap Women in Personal Life*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Sylaska K, M.Edward. M.2014. Disclosure of intimate partner violence to informal social support network members. A review of the literature. Trauma Violence Abuse.15:3-21.

Teddlie, C. Yu, F. 2007. Mixed methods sampling: A Typology with examples. *Journal of mixed methods research*. 1 (1) 77-100.

Tembe, R. 2017. *City exposes male on wife beating: Domestic violence on the rise in EThekwini*. Metro ezasegagasini.13 July: 1-2.

Umbreit, M.S., Vos, B., Coates, R.B. and Brow, K. 2003. *Facing violence*: *The path to restorative Justice and Dialogue*. Monsey: Justice Press.

UN Women. 2013. Why do some men use violence against women and how can we prevent it? Available at URL: http://unwomen-asiapacific.org/docs/ (Accessed 15 September 2015)

UN Women 2020. The Shadow Pandemic: Violence Against Women and Girls and COVID-19, New York, USA. Available at: https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/multimedia/2020/4/infographicccovid19-violence-against-women-and-girls (Accessed 10 October 2021)

USAID. 2005. Gender Equality and Female Empowerment Policy. Washington DC.

USAID. 2009. USAID East and Southern Africa Regional Office's Strategic Framework for the Prevention of and Response to Gender-based violence in Eastern, Southern and Central Africa. Washington DC.

Vanska, A. E. 2019. Young women's perceptions on safety in public spaces of Mumbai: negotiating patriarchy by transcending victimhood. Lund University. Available: https://lup.lub.lu.se

Vetten, L. 2000. Invisible girls and violent boys. *Gender and Gangs in South Africa*. Development Update, 3.2. p40 – 83.

Walby, S. and Allen, J. 2004. The gendered nature of domestic violence. London. Home office.

Ward, C. L. 2007. Young people's violent behaviour: *Social learning in context*. In Burton, P. ed. Someone Stole My Smile: An exploration into the Causes of Youth Violence in South Africa. Cape Town: Centre for Justice and Crime Prevention, Monograph series: 9-35.

Whitehead, S. M. and Barrett, F. J. 2001. "The Sociology of Masculinity". (In Whitehead, S. M. & Barrett, F. J. (Eds). *The Masculinities Reader*. Cambridge: Polity Press. p. 1-23.

WHO. 2007. Engaging men and boys in changing gender-based inequity in health: *Evidence from programme interventions*. Geneva. WHO.

WHO. 2008. Violence against Women. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO.

Wilson, F. 2014. Gender-based violence in South Africa. Pretoria. Embassy of Finland.

Yoshiaka, M. R. Gilbert, L. and Bessel E. 2003. Social support and disclosure of abuse: comparing South Asian, African American and Hispanic battered women. Journal of family violence.18:171-180.

Zehr, H, Mika, H. 1998. Fundamental concepts of restorative justice. Contemp. *Justice Rev.* (1); 47 – 55.

Zehr, H.2002. The little book of restorative Justice, PA: Good Books.

Zhang, J., 2020. Evaluation of an intensive service leadership program using the subjective outcome evaluation approach. *International Journal of Child and Adolescent Health*, 13(2), pp.137-151.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: LETTER TO THE PARTICIPANT



Title of the Research Study: Addressing gender-based violence in Ward 83, Umlazi

Principal Investigator/s/researcher: Mrs. Zanele Khuzwayo (Bed Honours)

Co-Investigator/s/supervisor: Dr V. Hamlall (PhD)

Brief Introduction and Purpose of the Study:

Dear Participant

Ngingu mfundiwe Masters Degree Durban University of Technology (DUT) lapha eThekwini.NgizokwenzaistadiesihloseukubhekaukuhlukumezekangokobulilikubantuabahlalalaphaeM lazi. Engikuhlosile ukutholaulwazi, indlela abantu ababonangayo, nokuthiba kuthathakanjanilokhokuhlukumeza, bakholelwakuphi? Ngizothathaidlanzana labantuabahlalakhonaeMlaziabadlulekwizimoezihambelananalesistadi, bakhulumengabakwaziyongakho.

Istadisizoqhubekaukwenzainhlolovongendlelaubuliliobusebenzangayo, indlelaokubonakalangayo, nangendlelaamandlaobudlelwanokowesifazanenowesilisaayiyoemphakathini.

Outline of the Procedures:

Indlelaidathaezoqoqwangayoizolandelaimithethoefanelekilekubuzweimibuzokumuntungamunyenak widlanzanaelikhethiwekulestadi.

Abantuabayisikhombisaokukhonakuboabesilisanabesifazaneabahlalalaphakwi wadi 83 eMlazi.bazokhethwaukusebenzisananami. Kuzobekubhekekeukuthibaphenduleimibuzoyenhlolovo. Izingxoxozizothathaimizuzuewu-50.

Uzocelwaukuthiusebenzisanefuthinendlanzanalabantuabakhethiwe.

Izingxoxozizobasobalaezukuqokelekakolwaziakukhookubekiweukuthiuphendulangendlelaefaneleyini nomaengafanele. Ungakhethaimibuzoongayiphendula.

Uz ophindau celwe ukuba ubeying xenyeyed lanzana elikhethiwe usebenzisan en abo.

Uz ocelwa futhinokuzinike laukuba usebenzisane nokuthuthukisakokuqa lakwezinhle lozokusiza abahlukumezeken gokocansi.

Risks or Discomforts to the Participant: Abukhoubucayinokungazizwa kahle ozobhekananakhoumauvumaukubayingxenyeyalesistadi. Idathaizobekwa kahle endaweniephephilekuzekupheleiminyakaeyisihlanu.

Reason/s why you May Withdraw from the Study: Ungazikhethela ukuzimbandakanyanomauyeken omainini. Ngaphandleko kubekwaicala. Kufanele uzivumelewena awuphoqiwe.

Benefits: Ukuzimbandakanyakwakhokuzobekungokokufundakuphele, ayikhoimaliozoyithola.

Remuneration: A sikhoisin xephezeloozositholangokuzimban dakan yanalesistadi.

Costs of the Study: Awulindelekileukukhokhelanomalziphiizindlekokulesistadi. Umfundiwenhlolovouzofikakuwenihlanganeendawenienivumelenengayo.

Confidentiality: Ukuvikelekanokungadalulwakwemininingwaneyakhokuzoqiinisekiswangokusetshenzi swakwegamaelingelonaelakhoelakhiwenje.

Uzochazelwakabanzingalokhuukungadalulwakwegamalakhokulesistadi.

Results:Imiphumelayestadiizovezwa Lana ezwenilethunasemazweniangaphandle.

Lestadisizozamaukugondaukuhlukumezekakwabesifazanenabesilisaabadlulekukho.

Ukusizanokuhlakazaindlelayosizooluqondile.

Imiphumelayestadiizokhonjiswakwimihlanganoehlukene,

a mase shinio kufunda kabanzingo kubhal wephansi o kuzo baizwi elizwa kalayongo kukhala kwabad lule kulobunzima.

Research-related

Injury:NjengobaLestadisizophathwangokusebenzisaizingxoxoeziqoshiwengezwiabukhoubungoziobu ngenzeka.

Storage of all electronic and hard copies including tape recordings:

Okuzwakalayookuqoshiwengekhasethiyefoninokubhaliwekuzogcinwalsikhathiesiyiminyakaeyisihlanu emvakwalokhokuzoqedwakonkengokufakaemshininiwokukugayakuphelenya, okuqoshiwekuzodilithwa.foni.

Persons to Contact in the Event of Any Problems or Queries: Ngicelauthinteongiphethekulezinamba 0711083677 or 083 419 0441 or the Institutional Research Ethics Administrator on 031 373 2375. IzikhalozingabikwakuMqondisi, we Research and Postgraduate Support. Dr L Linganisoku 031 373 2577 or researchdirector@dut.ac.za.

APPENDIX B: PARTICIPANT CONSENT



PARTICIPANT CONSENT

 $Is it a timen desesivum el wanosokuba ubeying xenyeyesifundo se\ Nhlolovoe Mlazi:$

 Ngiyavuma ukuthingizwilengendlelaokuphethwengayoisifundo, imihlomulo, ka 	nvenobucavibesifundo-
Research Ethics Clearance Number:	,
Ngitholilengafundafuthingaqondangemininingwaneyesifundo	
(incwadiyokwazingokubaingxenyeyesifundo) esenziwe.	
Ngiyazingemiphumelayesifundokanyengemininingwanengamimayelananobulili	i, ubudala,
usukulokuzalwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa muntuon gapata saatu alikuwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim fihloingaziwa nokuthiin qubonemiphume laizo bayim qubonemiphume laito bayim qubonemiphume	phandlekwalesifundo.
 Kumbonowezintoezidingekayongalenhlolovo, 	
ngiyavumaukuthiiminining wan engamie qoqiwe isetshen ziswengok wekhom puyumati samati samat	utha.
 Ngingashintshanomaininingiyekeukubaingxenyeyesifundo. 	
 Ngibenethubaelaneleukubuzaimibuzo 	(ngokwami)
ukulung iselelang if ungeukuthing ibeomunye ozoba ing xenyeye stadi.	
Ngiyaqonda, ngemiphumelaebonakalayoevelakulesistadi, esimayelananokuthingibekho	nangisebenze.
IgamaelipheleleloyingxenyeyestadiUsuku IsikhathiSayina / Right Thumbprint	

Full Name of Researcher	Date	Signature
Full Name of Witness (If applicable)	Date	Signature
Full Name of Legal Guardian (If applicab		

Ngiyafunga, ukuthioyingxenyeyestadi, uyazi kahle ngakhokonke, okumayelananalesifundo.

APPENDIX C: ISHEDULIYEZINGXOXOZALOOYINGXENYEYESITADI

Addressing gender-based violence in Ward 83, Umlazi			
INTERVIEW SCHEDULE			
For			
Participant			

January to April 2020

Participants' No_____

INTRODUCTION:

IgamalamiuZanele Maureen Khuzwayo, owenzaizifundo ze Master's Degree e Durban University of Technology. NjengomfundikufanelengenzeinhlolovokubantuabahlalaeMlazi. Isihlokosestadisithi "Addressing gender-based violence in ward 83, Umlazi". Inhlosoyami, ukutholaokwenzekayongokuhlukumezeka, okuphathelenenobulilibesifazanenabesilisaabahlalakulendawo.

 $\label{thm:control} Ukuziqoqa izing xoxongok wan elengithan daukuseben zisaifoniukuqopha, ukuzengiben esiqinisekosokuthiiminin ingwan eiyezwakala.$

Unayoyin iinking angokuthing isebenzise ifoniukuqophainkulumo?

Unaloilungelolokucelaiminining waneebhaliweng aweng aphambikokuthiiset shenziswe.

Ngiyacelaukuthingiqinisekise okushoyon okubonayokuzo baimfihlophakathikwa minawe.

Uyayiqondaimibuzoyenhlolovo? Uma

kukhon aothan daukukube kangenhlosoyezing xoxoizim fihlozeminin ingwaneyakhouvum elekileukusho.

	SECTION A: Biographical characteristics of Respondent					
1.	Isilisaisifazane					
2.	Ungaphansikayiphiingxenye?					
	Phakathi ka 21 no 30 year					
	Phakathi ka 31no 40 years					
	Phakathi 40 to 50					
3.	Usuhlalelsikhathiesingakananikulomuzi?					
4.	UsuhlalelsikhathiesingakananieMlazi?					
5.	IziphiizingqinambaohlangabezanenazongokuhlalalaphaeMlazi?					
	Probe: Ujabulekulendawo? UzikhetheleukuhlalaeMlazi?					
6.	YiniongayishintshangempiloyakhoeMlazi?					
	Probe: Ujabulelapha? Ungathanda ukushintshaindawoohlalakuyo?					
7.	. Wazalelwa kuphi?					
SECTIOI	N B:					
	Indlelaobonangayo no kwazikabanzingokuhlukumezekakobulili					
	1. <u>Ujabulileukubanoshadenayeempilweni? Ukhululekileukuxoxanomayininaye?</u>					
	2. Iroliyomsebenziyowesilisanesifazaneihlukeneyiniekhaya?					
	3. <u>Imuphiumsebenzioyenzayoekhaya?</u>					
	Probe : Imiphi imisebenzi eqondenenabesilisa / nabesifazane okufaneleyenziwe? Uzizwa kanjani ingokwenzekaekhaya? Ungathandaukwenzaeminyeimisebenzi/ Ngobani?					
	4. Uyabaingxenyelokusebenzakwemaliekhaya? Ngobani?					

5. Ucabangaukuthiikhayalakholihlelekile? Ubafakakanjaniabomndeniwakhoekuthatheniizingumo? Probe: Ujabulilengendlelaizintoezenzekangayo? Yini indaba? 6. Kushoukuthinikuweukuhlukumezekangokobulili? Probe: Awuchazengohlelolokwenzekayokwakhongokobulili? Ubanionamathubaangconoekhaya? Yiniucabangekanjalo? 7. Imaphiamandlangokobudlewanongobuliliakhonaekhaya? Probe: Umkhwenyanawakhouyakuhloniphanjemuntuenibambisenenayeemndeniniwenu? Usukewabanolwazinomawabonaisehlakalosokuhlukumezeka? Chazakabanzi. 8. Ngokwakhoukubonalkuphiokudalaukuhlukumezekangokobuliliemphakathini? Probe: YiniIroliyesikoekuhlukumezekenikowesilisanomaowesifazane? 9. Ngicelaunabengesimolaphowahlanabezananobunzimanomkhwenyananomaunkosikaziw akho? Wadlulakanjanikulokho? UbudlelwanoobujwayelekileGeneral relationships 10. BunjaniUbudlelwanophakathikwabesifazanenabesilisakulomphakathi? Probe: Ucabanganingokuhlumezekakwabesifazaneemphakathini? 11. Iziphiizingqinambaokewabhekananabonjengowesifazanenowesilisakulendawoohlalakuyo 12. Ngabeikhanselaliyindodanomaelesimame? Probe:Bunjaniubudlwelanobakho nalo ikhansela? Ungakuthakaselaukubanekhanselalesilisanomaelesifazane? Ungathandaukubakulesigabasokuphatha? Ngobani? 13. Ucabangaukuthiizintozingabanomahlukoukubawawuyindodanomaowesifazane? 14. Ikhonaimihlanganonamalungaomphakathimayelanangokuhlukumezekakwabesifazane? Kwenzekanikulemihlangano? Probe: Obaniabafikakulemihlangano? (Isilisa /isifazane) Ngabeisimosinokuthulakulemihlangano? 15. Bayalutholausizoabahlukumezekileemphakathini? 16. Umphakathiuthiningokuhlukumezekakobulili?

Probe: Ikuphiokwenzayoekhaya?

	Ikhonayiniindawolaphokusizwakhonaabahlukumezekilengokobulili?	
Ibudlel	wanonabantwanabakho	
	Ubafundisakanjaniinhloniphoekhaya?	
	uhlukileyiniukufundisaintombazanenomaumfanainhlonipho?	
	Uzizwauhloniphekilengokufanakubantwanabakhointombazanenomaumfana?	
	Nginikeulwaziolumayelananokuziphathakwabantwanabakhokuwe.	
mibono	ongoshintsho	
	Kulengxoxouyabonayiniumahlukongokuqwashiswangezimoezenzekaphakathikobulilier hakathini? Ungazichazalezozimo?	np
22.	Iluphius hintshoon gathan daum khwenyanan oma ohlekisanan ayealwenzemayelanan goholobulilin okwenzekayo?	lel
	Iluphiushintshoongathandaukulibonakubahlalimayelananodlamekwabesifazane?	
	IluphiushintshoongathandalwenzekeeNingizimu Afr mayelanangokuhlukumezekakobulili?	ika
25.	Iziphiizinhleloumnyangowezenhlalakahleenazoukwesekaukuhlukumezekangokobulili?	
	isizakangakananiizinhlelo?	
26.	Kukhonayiniongakushongokuhlukumekakobulilinezindlelazokuphumelelisalesisimoempakathini?	эh

Ngiyabonga kakhulu ngesikhathi sakho.

APPENDIX D: FOCUS GROUP INTERVIEW SCHEDULE FOR PARTICIPANTS

Addressing gender-based violence in Ward 83, Umlazi

FOCUS GROUP INTERVIEW SCHEDULE

FOCUS GROUP INTERVIEW SCHEDULE
For
PARTICIPANTS
Participant No
January to April 2020
Awungitshelengokwaziyomayelana neroli yobuliliekhaya.
Probe: Ikuphiokuthandayonongakuthandimayelananobudlelwanobakhonohlekisananayenomaumkhwenyana?
Ngabeabesilisanabesifazanebayahlanganangokuzithandelaemphakathini? Bayezwanayini?
3. Ngabekukhonaukwenzelelakobuliliemphakathini? Ucabangakwenziwayinilokho?
Probe: Awungitshelengobudlelwanongokobuliliemphakathiniohlalakuwo.
4. Kukhonayiniukuqophisanaphakathikwaboabesifazanenabesilisa? Bakwenzakanjanilokhokuqophisanaphakathikwabo?
5. Ithiniimibononolwazingokuhlukumezekakobuliliemphakathini?
Probe: Iziphiizingqinambaabesifazaneababhekananazoemphakathinimayelanangokuhlukumezeka? Iziphiizinkombaezibonakalayozokuhlukumezekakusukungosukukwizintoezenzekayo?
6. Ngabeabesifazanebanezingqinambaezinkulu? Ubaniozenzayoizingqinamba Yiniucabangakanjalo?
7. Ngabeisikolinomthelelaekuhlukumezekenikwabesilisanabesifazane? Chaza. Does cultur influence gender-based violenceamong male and female? Explain.
8. Ikuphiokunyeokunomthelelaekuhlukumezekeniemphakathini?
9. AwushoukuthiUbudlelwanobakhonamalungaomndeniwakho.

Probe: Iziphiizindle laabesi fazanea baphathwang azongokwahlukilekwa besilisa emphakathini?

		kanjaningendieiaabesirazaneabaphatnwar paphathwangokulinganaabesilisanabesifaz	- ,	enziwayini?
		gaukuthiumphakathiuyakwaziukubaluleka	_	bulilieMlazi?
		ıdlelwan obakhophakat hikwa besilisan esifa		Uyabahlonipha?
	13. Ulindel was eN			saemphakathini
	14. Ngiyace	elauxoxengesimolaphowahlangabezanano kholaphowazizwaungajabule? Wadlulisaka	bunzimanozwananayeno	omaumkhweny
	Ngokwa	andlekwakhoamalunguomndeniwakhoaph akhobanaboubunzimangalesisihluku?	•	
Probe:Um	a ucabangakubang	elwayinilobunzimabokungajabuliphakathil	kwamalungaomphakathi	?
Probe:Nga		yelanangokuhlukumezekangokobulili?		
	•	kathiuzivikelakanjanikulokhokuhlukumeze	•	sifazane?
	17. Awung	tshelengobudlelwanobakhonabantwanae abakuthathangayongokuhlukumezekakwa	emphakathinimayelanane	enhlonipho,
	18. Kukhor ?	ayiniokunyeongakushongokuhlukumezek	amayelananezintoozenza	ayonsukuzonke
	19.Kukhona	yiniokunyeongathandaukukushomayelana	angokuhlukumezekaokuk	khonaphakathik
	omsebenzio	wenziwa owesilisanowe sifazane ekhaya?		

Ngiyabonga kakhulung esikhathinoku fakile kulenhlolovo.

APPENDIX E



Councillor

Mezzanine Floor Shell House Cnr. Anton Lembede & Samora Michell Street, Durban, 4000 P O Box 1014, Durban, 4000 Tel.: 031 322 7030, Fax: 031 311 3827 www.durban.gov.za

21 October 2021

Councillor

: B. V. Mngwengwe

Contact No

: 073 159 5807

TO WHO IT MAY CONCERN

This letter serves to confirm that Ms Zanele Maureen Khuzwayo is known to me as resident of ward 83 and a student of Durban University of Technology, she is doing research to complete her qualification. I therefore confirm that she has been granted to conduct her research within ward 83. I recommend that members of the community cooperate with her. Your cooperation will be highly appreciated.

Councillor B. V. Mngwengwe Councillor Ward 83 eThekwini Municipality Counciller Bhekizazi Vincent Mngwengwe

IMM/SSIONER OF OATHS
ELHERWINI MUNICIPALITY
EX OFFICIO DISTRICT OF DURBAN IN
TERMS OF SECTION 6 OF ACT 16 OF 1963
(AS AMENDED) CITY HALL SECRETARIAT
DE DELIVEN KA SEME STREET DURBAN, 4001

APPENDIX F





P O Box 1334, Durban, South Africa, 4001

5 November 2021

Mrs Z M Khuzwayo 198 Glenardle Road Bluff Durban 4036

Dear Mrs Khuzwayo

Addressing gender-based violence in Ward 83, Umlazi

I am pleased to inform you that Full Approval has been granted to your proposal.

The Proposal has been allocated the following Ethical Clearance number IREC 012/21. Please use this number in all communication with this office.

Approval has been granted for a period of ONE YEAR, before the expiry of which you are required to apply for safety monitoring and annual recertification. Please use the Safety Monitoring and Annual Recertification Report form which can be found in the Standard Operating Procedures [SOP's] of the IREC. This form must be submitted to the IREC at least 3 months before the ethics approval for the study expires.

Any adverse events [serious or minor] which occur in connection with this study and/or which may alter its ethical consideration must be reported to the IREC according to the IREC SOP's.

Please note that any deviations from the approved proposal require the approval of the IREC as outlined in the IREC SOP's.

Yours Sincerely

Professor | K Adam Chairperson: IREC

ENVISION2030 transparency · honesty · integrity · respect · accountability falmess · professionalism · commitment · compassion · excellence



APPENDIX G

Turnitin Originality Report Sm.llarity Processed on: 2022/08/13 20:12 SAST Internet sources 18% ID: 1875927820 15% Publications Student Papers, 1 f% Word Count;30801 Submitted: 4 GBV These V4 By IZanele Maureen Khuzwayo TA his objective from 19-11-2020 jhr 3.7 inc. has consultable sample of 0.00700 §47 distants on a massage to 0.0125 to 24 suppose 1ment outbreby. Under I., "Zulu massuling a number. So to end the constitution in the Boudheff transmissed in your 170 metri (Takasa for 170-49-20 saidh cydri<u>i, ga metriberta mi CS2125</u>000, ettimowekh intinget 150 to 10 (Internet from L2-Ott-2020)<u>10</u>7(x,77), one many wrey conjection (C/10.1.1.1/1-67 085x) 2199 $< 100 \, \mathrm{metch} \, (\mathrm{Lttm} \, \mathrm{co}, \mathrm{fib} + 20 \, \mathrm{Jan} \, \mathrm{accommod} \, \mathrm{comp}, \, \mathrm{comp} \, \mathrm{colores} \, \mathrm{mittanc} \, \mathrm{colored} \, \mathrm{Janes}, \mathrm{colored} \, \mathrm{$ EL-COSA novem-yes-groege 15) metati (Internatifram 12 Aug. 2019)....)p.W.m., riss at revibitet geon@andiera2503/1567(glis-ed-circ, scient). ---s 15s match (prison streamers <u>fore-tone done done be</u>ne back back of the first <u>potters of dodd (pass</u>) a fore is set epige. State to the page. <u>Tester Tabe South a</u> 1930, is many a hughel <u>of fee, to all Social Socials,</u> show there, will be 15) metch ((<u>Madrows Ship and Lit</u>plers are no intimat<u>ty remisito in South Albital Arg</u>o. The metric Colorinal from GB Liu Zood find of the mayor made, 1920 Mar Suizes and Million in their extraorded states from 19 metch (Orternot from 23 Inc. 2022) <u>(III. 2006) Sermely PDC 900 Teller (corology frigural of appades represented thing-coro</u> 15s match (urband line: 10-May-2-40)http:<u>(udotMag.not/20072448 Antiqu</u>ue n-Hirerad: ente-end-sicord.htm) maget (202m). Per a 12-ma-2021 (althour receiver a <u>2/30.00262 a.m.l. commonse</u>, divinience-; no interfi<u>jobach militaries. 1.00</u> Politicah (Greenet Sect. 22 Aug. 2021) The model (Common Section 22 Acq. 2011). If mylythomes reprint 27(1)78-4-th copy of <u>distriction in the known of the section 27(1)78-4-th copy of the section in the known of the section 27(1)78-4-th copy of the section in the known of the section 27(1)78-4-th copy of the section in the section 27(1)78-4-th copy of the section 27</u> 4. PA ment (childent papers from 28 Apr. 2015) <u>Submitteens Quitan University of Technology on DOSES4-28</u> $8.125 \text{ in sub-y-like obspaces around 22-May-2017}(\underline{S_{*}}) \text{ in the furthern university of Technology on } \underline{2017}, \underline{05}, \underline{20}$ K-DW much (at near papers from $25 \cdot 3 \cos 2021 \cdot 3 \frac{1}{3} \cdot 3 \cos 3 \sin 3 \cos 4 \cos 6$). Tegy no logy on $\frac{3021 \cdot 36 \cdot 20}{3}$ κ Physically (stiment papers from 13-3.0 2041) $\chi_{\rm c}$ and safety Duman Schwegty of Tooline Love 1, $\chi_{\rm c} \chi_{\rm d} \chi_{\rm c} \chi_{\rm c}$ 13 0.0% in acts (equivertigage of from 23-Au s 2021)/ $_{ m C} > 0.1$ which formally otherwise of Teology (equivers 2008) > 2 $\leq 000 \text{ in also } (9) \text{ as only compare from } 24-30 + 2020) \underline{S_{\text{const}}} + 0.04 + \underline{3} \text{ pp} \text{ and Loose rate of Two high-gray to $000-39-34}$ is 1% mater. (at ment rapping rate 20,500,2020)<u>(Augustins</u>, in Durran tilt versity of <u>Joch wildly on 2020,00 pc</u> 1.75 (126) (1616-b) repersional W-hoty-2012(<u>資金的</u>試験 p.p. pyla-lib / new not -state) og 2012-11-30 1% mater (student repersificati 00-603-2019)<u>Submitted in SU</u>₂(x) - (x) 1. GenTut - tietet on 2019-08-30. 3.1% reals: (8.5) + the expert from 29-403-30.8 (<u>Submitted</u> to the variety of Governity-<u>Metals on 2018-08-26.</u> Other mater (issued appears 5 in 1944) review only whin the discussion of <u>Kenadula (in 1986) and Appears</u> 1994. a. De ///Qbeers/r//Down loads/Timm Min. Original (ty_keup) __12/42/42/42/6 htm 10% math into deropators from 38 Cc 2Ct)

APPENDIX H

Sury Bisetty Academic Editing Services



The pen is mightier than the sword

To whom it may concern

I edited a thesis entitled **ADDRESSING GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE IN UMLAZI, WARD 83 DURBAN** submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Management Science Specialising in Public Administration (Peace building) in the Faculty of Management Sciences at the Durban University of Technology by **Zanele Maureen Khuzwayo**

Sury Bisetty

Professional Language and Technical Editor

20 September 2022

CONTACT DETAILS

Email: surybisetty11@gmail.com

Cell no: 0844932878 Tel.: 031 7622 766

MEMBER OF:

Professional Editor's Guild (BIS002) South African Council of Educators (222277)

SAMEA (761237008553)

CERTIFICATION:

PEGSA: Critical Reading

Editing Mastery: How to Edit to Perfection Complete writing, editing master class. ELSEVIER – Editor's guide to reviewing articles

Disclaimer: Please note, I provided language and technical editing as per discussion with the client. The **content** and structure of the paper were not amended in any way. The edited work described here may not be identical to that submitted. The author, at his/her sole discretion, has the prerogative to accept, delete, or change amendments/suggestions made by the editor before submission.

NB – in keeping with POPIA regulations all work related to this thesis will be deleted 3 months after completion.